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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUALREPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 98-0181725
State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification No.)
8375 South Willow Street

Littleton

Colorado 80124

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (303) 792 5554
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(hefAct:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
N/A N/A

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:  Common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes O No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.

Yes O No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted

and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files).

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel
Non-accelerated file O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes O No

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the most recently completed second fiscal quarter (June
30, 2012) was approximately $489 million, based on the closing price of the common shares on the NASDAQ on June 30, 2012. Shares of common stock held by each officer
and director and by each beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates.
This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.

As of February 8, 2013, 23,332,424 shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of Innospec Ir's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stoddters to be held on May 8, 2013 are incorporatecefigrence into Part 11l of this Form -K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains certain “forward-lookingt&ments” within the meaning of the Private Semgikitigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than sterts of historical facts included or incorporatedein may
constitute forward-looking statements. Such forwlaaking statements include statements (covereddoys like
“expects,” “anticipates,” “may,” “believes” or sitar words or expressions), for example, which eetatoperating
performance, events or developments that we expextticipate will or may occur in the future (inding, without
limitation, any of the Compang’guidance in respect of sales, gross marginsjgehabilities and charges, net incor
growth potential and other measures of financidgigpmance). Although forward-looking statements laggeved by
management to be reasonable when made, they geetsiagbcertain risks, uncertainties and assumptiand our actui
performance or results may differ materially frdmege forward-looking statements. You are urgeevew our
discussion of risks and uncertainties that coulgseaactual results to differ from forward-lookirtgtements under the
heading “Risk Factors.” The Company undertakesbiigation to publicly update or revise any forwdodking
statements, whether as a result of new informafidare events or otherwise.
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PART I
ltem 1 Business

When we use the terms the “Corporation,” “CompafiRggistrant,” “we,” “us” and “our,'we are referring to Innosp
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (“Innosperiless otherwise indicated or the context othernagjuires.

General

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends, markdtsugplies fuel additives, personal care and fragggroducts and
other specialty chemicals. Our products are saldaoly to oil refineries, personal care and fragra companies, and
other chemical and industrial companies throughioeitvorld. Our fuel additives help improve fueliei#ncy, boost
engine performance and reduce harmful emissionso®er specialty chemicals provide effective teitbgy-based
solutions for our customers’ processes or prodiacissed in the Personal Care; Polymers; and Fragringredients
markets.

Our principal executive offices are in LittletonplGrado. We became an independent company on MalQ28, when
we were spun off from our then parent corporatioeaELakes Chemical Corporation (which subsequdrgbame
Chemtura Corporation). We changed our name fronel@ztrp. to Innospec Inc. on January 30, 2006.curmon
stock is listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol “FOS

Segmental Information

Innospec divides its business into three segmentsdnagement and reporting purposes:

* Fuel Specialtie

* Performance Chemica

» Octane Additive:
The Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals esetgnoperate in markets where we actively seektfirow
opportunities although their ultimate customersdifferent. The Octane Additives segment is gemerddaracterized

by volatile and declining demand. For financiabimhation about each of our segments, see Notal8dflotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fuel Specialties

Our Fuel Specialties segment develops, manufactolesds, markets and supplies a range of speahéynical
products used as additives to a wide range of .fliélsse fuel additive products help improve fuétefncy, boost
engine performance and reduce harmful emissiortsaenused in the efficient operation of automgtiaarine and
aviation engines, power station generators, antingeand diesel particulate filter systems.
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During 2012, we completed the acquisition of Staatrol Services, Inc. (“Strata”) to help buildt@mur nascent
Oilfield Specialties business, and we continueseksurther opportunities for this area in 2013tsdie of this
acquisition, the segment has grown organicallyughoour development of new products to address whdielieve ar
the key drivers in demand for fuel additives. Théseers include increased focus on fuel econorhginging engine
technology and legislative developments. We havetdel substantial resources towards the developoiergw and
improved products that may be used to improveédifediency.

Our customers in this segment include nationat@mpanies, multinational oil companies and fuditets.
Performance Chemicals

Our Performance Chemicals segment provides effettiohnology-based solutions for our customergsses or
products focused in the Personal Care; PolymetsFaagrance Ingredients markets.

This segment has also grown organically, throughdigvelopment and marketing of innovative prodtcthe personal
care and fragrance industries. The focus for odioFeance Chemicals segment is to develop highopednce
products from its technology base in a number fet@d markets.

Our customers in this segment include large muitnal companies, manufacturers of personal caldehansehold
products and specialty chemical manufacturers ¢ipgran niche industries.

Octane Additives

Our Octane Additives segment, which we believéaésworld’s only producer of tetra ethyl lead (“TBLtomprises
sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline anditig in respect of our environmental remediatiosibess. We are
continuing to responsibly manage the decreasecisdles of TEL for use in automotive gasolinene hvith the
remaining countries’ transition plans to unleadaddadine. Cost improvement measures continue takentto respond
to declining market demand.

Sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline areenathcipally to state-owned refineries locatethie Middle East
and Northern Africa. Our environmental remediatiusiness serves these customers to manage thegletn
redundant plants as refineries complete the mowg dwem leaded gasoline.

Strategy

Our strategy is to develop new and improved praxlant technologies to continue to strengthen azr@éase our
market positions within our Fuel Specialties anddemance Chemicals segments. The segments todekierhad
average organic revenue growth of
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7% per annum, and average operating income grofin% per annum, since 2007. We also actively oometito asse
potential strategic acquisitions, partnerships @thér opportunities that would enhance and expandwstomer
offering. We focus on opportunities that would exteur technology base, geographical coverageaatygt portfolio.
We believe that focusing on the Fuel SpecialtiesR@rformance Chemicals segments, in which the @agnpas
existing experience, expertise and knowledge, des/opportunities for positive returns on investiweth reduced
operating risk.

Geographical Area Information

Financial information with respect to our domesind foreign operations is contained in Note 3 eflffotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Working Capital

The nature of our customers’ businesses generdilyires us to hold appropriate amounts of invenitoyrder to be
able to respond quickly to customers’ needs. Weethee require corresponding amounts of workingtehfor normal
operations. We do not, however, believe that thimaterially different to what our competitors @otl) the exception
of cetane number improvers, in which case we miaiigh enough levels of inventory, as requiredsetiain our
position as market leader in sales of these prsjluct

The purchase of large amounts of some raw matdéaatsur Fuel Specialties and Octane Additives segsican create
some variations in working capital requirementd,thase are planned and well managed by the bigsines

We do not believe that our terms of sale, or teofraurchase, differ markedly from those of our cetiprs.
Raw Materials and Product Supply

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicasimmanufacturing and blending processes and leetleat sources
for these are adequate for our current operatidnosmajor purchases are cetane number improvetisugasolvents
and ethylene.

These purchases account for a substantial portidredCompany’s variable manufacturing costs. Theaterials are,
with the exception of ethylene in Germany, readihailable from more than one source. Although ethglis, in theon
available from several sources, it is not permlssib transport ethylene by road in Germany. Assailt, we source
ethylene for our German operations via a directlpie from a neighboring site, making it effectivel single source.
Ethylene is used as a primary raw material in petgltepresenting approximately 8% of the Compasalss.

We use long-term contracts (generally with fixedaymula-based costs) and advance bulk purchadsspoeensure
availability and continuity of supply, and to maeabe risk of cost increases. For some raw masetal risk of cost
increases is managed with commodity swaps.
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The chemicals industry in general is experiencmges tightness in the supply of certain commodityemals. We
continue to monitor the situation and adjust owcprement strategies as we deem appropriate. Thg&uwy forecasts
its raw material requirements substantially in aabea and seeks to build long-term relationshipscamdractual
positions with supply partners to safeguard its naaterial positions. In addition, the Company ofgsan extensive
risk management program which seeks to sourcedwymaterials from multiple sources and to develgdfable
contingency plans.

I ntellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmds and licenses, forms a significant part ofGoenpany’s
competitive edge, particularly in the Fuel Spe®aland Performance Chemicals segments. The Conauesynot,
however, consider its business as a whole to beraimt on any one trademark, patent or license.

The Company has a portfolio of trademarks and pstéoth granted and in the application stage, rogeroducts an
processes in several jurisdictions. The majoritthee patents were developed by the Company abjgcs to
maintenance obligations including the payment néveal fees, have at least 10 years life remaining.

The trademark “Innospec” and the Innospec devicglasses 1, 2 and 4 of the “International Clasaiitn of Goods
and Services for the Purposes of the Registrafidtaoks” are registered in all jurisdictions in whithe Company has
a significant market presence. The Company alsdrademark registrations for certain product names|
jurisdictions in which it has a significant markeesence

We actively protect our inventions, new technolsgend product developments by filing patent appibims and
maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigohppsrticipate in patent opposition proceedinguacbthe world
where necessary to secure a technology base tn@eirifringement of our intellectual property.

Customers

In 2012, the Company had a significant customéhénFuel Specialties segment, Royal Dutch Shelapttits affiliate
(“Shell), which accounted for $82.9 million (11%} our net group sales. In 2011 and 2010, Shebaaed for $78.7
million (10%) and $67.8 million (10%) of our netogip sales, respectively.

We have sales contracts with customers using fixddrmula-based prices, as appropriate, to mairdar gross
profits.

Competition

Certain markets in which the Company operatesasgst to significant competition. The Company cetes on the
basis of a number of factors including, but notitéd to, product quality and performance, specaiproduct lines,
customer relationships and service, and regulaodytoxicological expertise.
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Fuel SpecialtiesThe Fuel Specialties market is generally fragmeataticharacterized by a small number of
competitors in each submarket. The competitoraaheubmarket differ with no one company holdirpainant
position in the Fuel Specialties market. We consoile competitive edge to be our proven technieaketbpment
capacity, independence from major oil companiesstruhg long-term relationships with refinery cuséos.

Performance ChemicalWe operate in three principal markets within Perfance Chemicals — Personal Care;
Polymers; and Fragrance Ingredients. The Persaaral @arket is highly fragmented, and the Compapgeances
substantial competition from a large number of mational and specialty chemical suppliers in egebgraphical
market. The Fragrance Ingredients and Polymersetsadce more concentrated, with a small numberio€ipal
competitors. Our competitive position in all threarkets is based on us supplying a superior, ddv@rsduct portfolio
which solves particular customer problems or enbarice performance of new or existing products. tmmber of
specialty chemicals markets, we also supply nicbdyrt lines, where we enjoy market-leading posgio

Octane AdditivesiWe believe our Octane Additives segment is the di®idnly producer of TEL and accordingly is the
only supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoliide segment therefore competes with marketepsaofucts and
processes that provide alternative ways of enhgrmitane performance in automotive gasoline.

Research, Development, Testing and Technical Support

Research, product/application development and teahsupport (“R&D”) provide the basis for the gritwof our Fuel
Specialties and Performance Chemicals segmentsrdiogly, the Company’s R&D activity has been, avitd
continue to be, focused on the development of madyrts and formulations. Our R&D department presitechnical
support for all of our reporting segments. Expaméi$ to support R&D services were $19.6 millior 81million and
$17.6 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

We believe that our proven technical capabilities/mle us with a significant competitive edge. hie tast three years,
the Fuel Specialties segment has developed newgéete cold flow, stabilizers, anti-foulants, lutity and combustion
improver products, in addition to the introductmimmany new cost effective fuel additive packagéss proven
technical capability has also been instrumentahiabling us to produce innovative new productsiwitiur
Performance Chemicals segment including Isélux Statsafe® .

Health, Safety and Environmental Matters

We are subject to environmental laws in the majarftthe countries in which we conduct businessnaggement
believes that the Company is in material complianitk applicable environmental laws and has magea@piate
provision for the continued costs of compliancenvehvironmental laws.

Our principal site giving rise to environmental efration liabilities is the Octane Additives maruitaing site at
Ellesmere Port in the United Kingdom, which managetnbelieves is

8
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the last ongoing manufacturer of TEL. There are alsvironmental remediation liabilities on a muofedier scale in
respect of our other manufacturing sites in the. drfsl Europe. At Ellesmere Port there is a contigpaisset retirement
program related to certain manufacturing units Haate been closed. We regularly review the futupeeted costs of
remediation and the current estimate is refleatedate 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated FindrBti@ements.

We recognize environmental liabilities when theg probable and costs can be reasonably estimaig@dsset
retirement obligations when there is a legal oltiayaand costs can be reasonably estimated. Thadvies anticipating
the program of work and the associated future explemosts, and so involves the exercise of judgingmianagement.

The European Union legislation known as the Regfisin, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemical Stalnces
Regulations (“REACH?”) requires most of the Compangtoducts to be registered with the European Ctami
Agency. Under this legislation the Company hasamadnstrate that its products are appropriate far thtended
purposes. During this registration process, the gz incurs expense to test and register its ptedilibe Company
estimates that the cost of complying with REACHI W& approximately $2 million over the next thresss.

Employees
The Company had approximately 900 employees inoR@tcies as at December 31, 2012.
Available I nformation

Our corporate web site is www.innospecinc.com. \Wakemavailable, free of charge, on or through tres site our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and any dments to those reports, as soon as reasonablycptde after
electronically filing such material with, or furhimg it to, the SEC.

The Company routinely posts important informationifivestors on its web site (under Investor Rete). The
Company uses this web site as a means of disclasatgrial, non-public information and for complyingh its
disclosure obligations under SEC Regulation FDr(Baclosure). Accordingly, investors should monttioe Investor
Relations portion of the Company’s web site, iniadd to following the Company’s press releasesCSings, public
conference calls, presentations and webcasts.

Item 1A Risk Factors
The factors described below represent the principks$ associated with our business.

We are subject to extensive regulation of our international operations that could adversely affect our business and
results of operations.

Due to our global operations, we are subject toynhanws governing international commercial activitpnduct and
relations, including those that prohibit impropayments to government

9
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officials, restrict where and with whom we can dsiness, and limit the products, software and teldgy that we can
supply to certain countries and customers. Thesge ilaclude but are not limited to, the U.S. Fore@prrupt Practices
Act and United Kingdom Bribery Act, U.S. sanctiarsd assets control programs administered by theefartment
of the Treasury, and the U.S. export control lauchsas the regulations under the U.S. Export Adstriaiiion Act, as
well as similar laws and regulations in other coestrelevant to our business operations. Violatiohany of these
laws or regulations, which are often complex inrthgplication, may result in criminal or civil palties that could hay
a material adverse effect on our results of opamatifinancial position and cash flows.

We may be required to make additional cash contributionsto our United Kingdom defined benefit pension plan and
recognize greater pension charges.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value anfePted Benefit Obligation (“PBO9f our United Kingdom define
benefit pension plan are dependent on actual retuinvestments as well as our assumptions in cegfiehe discount
rate, annual member mortality rates, future retrrmssets and future inflation. A change in anyafrtbese
assumptions could impact the plan asset value, &RlJpension charge recognized in the income statemhéuture
plan investment returns prove insufficient to nfe@ire obligations, or should future obligationsriease due to
actuarial factors or changes in pension legislatioen we may be required to make additional casitributions. Thes
events could adversely impact our results of opmraf financial position and cash flows.

Competition and market conditions may adversely affect our operating results.

In certain markets, our competitors are larger tand may have greater access to financial, tdofpical and other
resources. As a result, competitors may be bdblerta adapt to changes in conditions in our ingesst fluctuations in
the costs of raw materials or changes in globahecoc conditions. Competitors may also be abletmduce new
products with enhanced features that may causelaéeé the demand and sales of our products. dmaion of
customers or competitors, or economic problemsusfaners in our markets could cause a loss of mhahae for our
products, place downward pressure on prices, raspllyment delays or non-payment, or decliningpiplailization
rates. These risks could adversely impact our tesfiloperations, financial position and cash flows

We could be adversely affected by technological changesin our industry.

Our ability to maintain or enhance our technoloozgoabilities, develop and market products andiegpons that
meet changing customer requirements, and succlysafticipate or respond to technological changes cost effectiv
and timely manner will likely impact our future liisss success. We compete on a number of frortgding, but not
limited to, product quality and performance. In dase of some of our products, our competitordamger than us and
may have greater access to financial, technologicdlother resources. Our inability to maintaiechhological edge,
innovate and improve our products could cause bngein the demand and sales of our products, dmdraely impact
our results of operations, financial position aadlcflows.

10
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Our reliance on a small number of significant customers may have a material adverse impact on our results of
operations.

Our principal customers are major multinational atate-owned oil companies, and large multinatiomahufacturers
of personal care and household products. Thesetinelsiare characterized by a concentration oiadege
participants. The loss of a significant customanaderial reduction in demand by a significant oosgr or termination
or nonfenewal of a significant customer contract couldeaisely impact our results of operations, finanp@gition anc
cash flows.

We may not be able to consummate, finance or successfully integrate future acquisitions, partnerships or other
opportunitiesinto our business, which could hinder our strategy or result in unanticipated expenses and losses.

Part of our strategy is to pursue strategic actjois, partnerships and other opportunities to dempnt and expand
our existing business. The success of these tramsadepends on our ability to efficiently complétansactions,
integrate assets and personnel acquired in theasgairtions, apply our internal control processélsése acquired
businesses and cooperate with our strategic part@ensummating acquisitions, partnerships or aspportunities an
integrating an acquisition involve considerableenges, resources and management time commitmedtepafailure
to effect these as intended could result in ungoraied expenses and losses. Post-acquisition attegmay result in
unforeseen difficulties and may deplete signifidamncial resources that could otherwise be akbléor the ongoing
development or expansion of existing operationstieumore, we may not realize the benefits of ajuesttion in the
way we anticipated when we first entered the treti@a. Any of these risks could adversely impaat @sults of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Our success depends on our management team and other key personnel, the loss of any of whom could disrupt our
business operations.

Our future success will depend in substantial parthe continued services of our senior manageriéetloss of the
services of one or more of our key executive pareboould affect implementation of our businessi@ad result in
reduced profitability. Our future success also aelseon the continued ability to attract, retain arativate highly-
gualified technical, sales and support staff. Wenc& guarantee that we will be able to retain ay ersonnel or
attract or retain qualified personnel in the futdfeve are unsuccessful in our efforts in thisaeel this could adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

Continuing adverse global economic conditions could materially affect our current and future businesses.

The ongoing concern about the stability of globarkets generally, and specifically the Eurozond, the strength of
counterparties in particular has led many lendedsiastitutional investors to reduce, or ceasertwide, credit to
businesses and consumers. These factors havedesltustantial and continuing decrease in sperigifmusinesses ai

11
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consumers, and a corresponding decrease in gluibasiructure spending. The availability, cost serdhs of credit
have been, and may continue to be, adversely affdnt the foregoing factors and these circumstanaes produced,
and may in the future result in, illiquid marketsdawider credit spreads. Continued turbulence endtss. and
international markets and economies, the generadlyicted environment for credit, and prolongedlides in business
and consumer spending could adversely impact eutteeof operations, financial position and casiwi.

An information technology system failure may adversely affect our business.

We rely on information technology systems to trahsarr business. Like other global companies, we h&xom time tc
time, experienced threats to our data and systatiugh we have implemented administrative antineal controls
and take protective actions to reduce the riskybecincidents and protect our information techgglaand we
endeavor to modify such procedures as circumstamagsnt, such measures may be insufficient togreghysical
and electronic break-ins, cyber-attacks or otheusy breaches to our computer systems. Whileate dve have not
experienced a material cyber security breach, ystems, processes, software and network still neayunerable to
internal or external security breaches, computerses, malware or other malicious code or cybaekjtcatastrophic
events, power interruptions, hardware failureg, firatural disasters, human error, system failamelsdisruptions, and
other events that could have security consequeces an information technology failure or disroptcould prevent
us from being able to process transactions withcagtomers, operate our manufacturing facilities, properly report
those transactions in a timely manner. A significarmotracted information technology system failoray result in a
material adverse effect on our results of operatifinancial position and cash flows.

We are also continuing with the process of impletingrour new, company-wide, information systemfpolah. The
new information system platform may cost more thaojected or may not perform as expected, eith&oth could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.

We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the &h& other jurisdictions. Significant judgmentasgjuired in
estimating our worldwide provision for income taxisthe ordinary course of our business, theraraary transactior
and calculations where the ultimate tax determamaits uncertain. Although we believe our tax estemare reasonab
any final determination pursuant to tax audits ang related litigation could be materially diffetéa what is reflected
in our consolidated financial statements. Shouldtar authority disagree with our estimates anémeine additional
tax liability for us, this could adversely impaatraesults of operations, financial position anghciows.
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We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect our results of
operations.

We generate a portion of our revenues and incuesmparating costs in currencies other than the dbfar. In
addition, the financial position and results of g®ns of some of our overseas subsidiaries a@rted in the relevant
local currency and then translated to U.S. dobartse applicable currency exchange rate for imgtus our
consolidated financial statements. Fluctuationth@se currency exchange rates affect the recoededs|of our assets
and liabilities, and our results of operations.

The primary exchange rate fluctuation exposure axeehis with the European Union euro, British postetling and
Swiss franc. Exchange rates between these cureeactethe U.S. dollar have fluctuated significamtlyecent years
and may continue to do so. We cannot accurateljigirkiture exchange rate variability among thaseencies or
relative to the U.S. dollar. While we take stepsi@nage currency exchange rate exposure, incl@iteging into
hedging transactions, we cannot eliminate all ewpoto future exchange rate variability. These arge risks could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.

Sharp and unexpected fluctuationsin the cost of our raw materials and energy could adversely affect our profit
margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amutggnin our manufacturing and blending processeswbf these
raw materials are derived from petrochemical-bdsedstocks which can be subject to periods of rapdisignificant
cost instability. These fluctuations in cost carchased by political instability in oil producingtions and elsewhere,
other factors influencing global supply and demahthese materials, over which we have little orcoatrol. We use
long-term contracts (generally with fixed or formtdased costs) and advance bulk purchases to i&lpecavailability
and continuity of supply, and to manage the riskasft increases. We have entered into hedginggenaants for
certain raw materials, but do not typically entéoihedging arrangements for all raw materialsprabals or energy
costs. If the costs of raw materials, chemicalsrargy increase, and we are not able to pass ea tust increases to
our customers, then profit margins and cash floesfoperating activities would be adversely impdcteraw materie
costs increase significantly, then our need forkivigy capital could increase. Any of these risksld@dversely impact
our results of operations, financial position aadlcflows.

A disruption in the supply of raw materials or transportation services would have a material adverse impact on our
results of operations.

The chemical industry is generally experiencing saightness in the supply of certain commodity mate Although
we try to anticipate problems with supplies of naaterials or transportation services by buildingase inventories of
strategic importance, any significant disruptioreitiner area could affect our ability to obtain naaterials or
transportation services at affordable costs, dllatvhich could adversely impact our results oé@gtions, financial
position and cash flows.
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Our reliance on a small number of significant stockholders may have a material adverse impact on our stock price.

Approximately 35% of our common stock is held byrfstockholders. A decision by any of these stolddrs to sell
all or a significant part of its holding, or a setdor unexpected disposition of our stock, coutdiitan a significant
decline in our stock price which could in turn acbedy impact our ability to access equity marketschy in turn could
adversely impact our results of operations, finalngosition and cash flows.

We facerisksrelated to our foreign operations that may adversely affect our business.

We serve global markets and operate in certaintdegrwith political and economic instability, imcling the Middle
East, Northern Africa, Asia-Pacific, Eastern Eurape South America regions. Our international ofp@ma are subject
to numerous international business risks includmg,not limited to, unsettled political conditigmsk of
expropriation, import and export restrictions, exagie controls, national and regional labor strikégh or unexpected
taxes, government royalties and restrictions oatreggion of earnings or proceeds from liquidateseds of overseas
subsidiaries. Any of these could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position andiciows.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our future performance and cash flows.

Failure to maintain or protect our intellectual pecty rights may result in the loss of valuablentemogies, or us havir
to pay other companies for infringing on their Irgetual property rights. Measures taken by usradget our
intellectual property may be challenged, invalidat@rcumvented or rendered unenforceable. We rsayface patent
infringement claims from our competitors which nragult in substantial litigation costs, claims damages or a
tarnishing of our reputation even if we are suciteé$s defending against these claims, which mayseaour customers
to switch to our competitors. Any of these evemislid adversely impact our results of operatiomsricial position an
cash flows.

Our products are subject to extensive government scrutiny and regulation.

We are subject to regulation by federal, stategllaad foreign government authorities. In some gase need
government approval of our products, manufactuprogesses and facilities before we may sell cegeaducts. Many
products are required to be registered with the Brfvironmental Protection Agency and with complrgovernment
agencies in the European Union and elsewhere. Walso subject to ongoing reviews of our produninufacturing
processes and facilities by government authoriéied, must also produce product data and comply aetailed
regulatory requirements.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certa@wproducts we must, among other things, demoedtnat the produ
is appropriate and effective for its intended usesl, that we are capable of manufacturing the mtoduaccordance
with applicable regulations. This approval process be costly, time consuming, and subject to ucipated and
significant delays. We

14
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cannot be sure that necessary approvals will b&teplaon a timely basis or at all. Any delay in atitay, or any failure
to obtain or maintain, these approvals would adlgraffect our ability to introduce new productslda generate
income from those products. New or stricter lawd sagulations may be introduced that could resuétdditional
compliance costs and prevent or inhibit the develemt, manufacture, distribution and sale of oudpods. Such
outcomes could adversely impact our results ofatpmrs, financial position and cash flows.

Legal proceedings and other claims could impose substantial costs on us.

We are from time to time involved in legal procewys that result from, and are incidental to, thedct of our
business, including employee and product liabdlgims. Although we maintain insurance to protecagainst a
variety of claims, if our insurance coverage is adéquate to cover such claims, then our resuttp@fations, financial
position and cash flows could be adversely affected

Environmental liabilities and compliance costs could have a substantial adverse impact on our results of operations.

We operate a number of manufacturing sites andubct to extensive federal, state, local anddorenvironmental,
health and safety laws and regulations, includnogé relating to emissions to the air, dischargésnd and water, and
the generation, handling, treatment and disposhbpérdous waste and other materials on these Bigeesperate under
numerous environmental permits and licenses, mamizh require periodic notification and renewahich is not
automatic. New or stricter laws and regulationda@ancrease our compliance burden or costs andra€lyeaffect our
ability to develop, manufacture, blend, market anpply products.

Our operations, and the operations of prior owoéur sites, pose the risk of environmental comtaton which may
result in fines or criminal sanctions being imposedequire significant amounts in remediation papts.

We anticipate that certain manufacturing sites oegse production over the medium to long-term andasure, will
require safely decommissioning and some environaheaimediation. The extent of our obligations w#pend on the
future use of the sites that are affected and the@@mental laws in effect at the time. We curhghiave made a
decommissioning and remediation provision in oursadidated financial statements based on curremvkn
obligations, anticipated plans for sites and exgsgnvironmental laws. If there were to be unexgeor unknown
contamination at these sites, or future plansHersites or environmental laws change, then cuprevisions may
prove inadequate, which could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position and ciahs.

Theinability of counterparties to meet their contractual obligations could have a substantial adverse impact on our
results of operations.

We sell products to oil refineries and chemical pames throughout the world. Credit limits, ongoangdit evaluation
and account monitoring procedures are used to narilmad debt
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risk. Collateral is not generally required. We havelace a credit facility with a syndicate of kanWe use derivative
including interest rate swaps, commodity swapsfarglgn currency forward exchange contracts, innbenal course
of business to manage market risks. We enter iatvative instruments with a diversified group odjor financial
institutions in order to manage the exposure tomeniormance of such instruments.

We remain subject to market and credit risks iniclgdhe ability of counterparties to meet their ttaotual obligations
and the potential non-performance of counterpattieeliver contracted commaodities or servicehatdontracted
price. The inability of counterparties to meet thegintractual obligations could have an adversehpn our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

Theterms of our credit facility may restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness or to otherwise expand our
business.

Our revolving credit facility contains restrictigégauses which may limit our activities, and openadl and financial
flexibility. We may not be able to borrow under tredit facility if an event of default under tregrns of the facility
occurs. An event of default under the credit faciincludes a material adverse change to our gsgetsations or
financial condition, and certain other events. Thetlit facility also contains a number of restoos that limit our
ability, among other things, and subject to cerlianted exceptions, to incur additional indebtesiigpledge our assets
as security, guarantee obligations of third partieske investments, undergo a merger or consaiaatiispose of
assets or materially change our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility requires us to rheertain financial ratios, including ratios basednet debt to EBITDA
and net interest expense to EBITDA. EBITDA is a+4@KRAP measure of liquidity defined in the creditifay. Our
ability to meet these financial covenants depemdsuhe future successful operating performandhebusiness. If w
fail to comply with financial covenants, we would im default under the credit facility and the nmeyuof our
outstanding debt could be accelerated unless we al@e to obtain waivers from our lenders. If weav@und to be in
default under the credit facility, it could advdysenpact our results of operations, financial piosi and cash flows.

Our businessis subject to the risk of manufacturing disruptions, the occurrence of which would adversely affect our
results of operations.

We are subject to hazards common to chemical metufag, blending, storage, handling and transpioriancluding
fires, labor strikes or slowdowns, explosions, nagctal failure, extreme weather, transportatioariniptions,
remediation, chemical spills and the release ahdigge of toxic or hazardous substances. Thesedsazauld result in
loss of life, property damage, environmental corntation and temporary or permanent manufacturirsgaon. Any
of these factors could adversely impact our resfltgperations, financial position and cash flows.
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Domestic or international natural disasters or terrorist attacks may disrupt our operations, decrease the demand for
our products or otherwise have an adverse impact on our business.

Chemical related assets, and U.S. corporationsa&sicis, may be at greater risk of future terratistcks than other
possible targets in the U.S., the United Kingdom #moughout the world. Extraordinary events sushatural
disasters may negatively affect local economieduding those of our customers or suppliers. Thmioence of such
events cannot be predicted, but they can adveirs@lstct economic conditions in general and in o@cs markets.
The resulting damage from such events could incloske of life, property damage or site closure. Ahyhese matters
could adversely impact our results of operatiomsrcial position and cash flows.

Our Octane Additives segment could decline faster than expected.

The remaining sales of the Octane Additives segmenhow concentrated in a relatively small nundfexustomers
and therefore could decline quickly and dramatycafid adversely impact our future results of openat financial
position and cash flows. We expect to cease sal€Elofor use in automotive gasoline in 2013, hoesethis is
dependent upon the phase out plans of the rematoungtries as they transition to unleaded gasoline.

New regulations related to conflict minerals could adversely impact our business.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumeretmin Act contains provisions to improve transpayeand
accountability concerning the supply of certain enals, known as conflict minerals, originating frtime Democratic
Republic of Congo and adjoining countries. As ailtethe SEC has adopted annual disclosure andtiego
requirements for those companies which use sucticaninerals in their products. These new reguieats may
require due diligence efforts in 2013, with initéasclosure requirements beginning in May 2014.rémeay be costs
associated with complying with these disclosure raperting requirements, if relevant, including e diligence to
determine the sources of materials used in ourymtsdand other potential changes to products, psaseor sources of
supply as a consequence of such verification dietsv/iThe implementation of these rules could agklgraffect the
sourcing, supply and pricing of materials usedunmroducts. As there may be only a limited nundfesuppliers
offering “conflict free” minerals, we cannot be suhat we will be able to obtain necessary conftet minerals, if
desired, from such suppliers in sufficient quaesitor at competitive prices. Also, we may face t&jmnal challenges
we determine that certain of our products contaimenals not determined to be conflict free or if are unable to
sufficiently verify the origins for all materialsead in our products through the procedures we majement.

Iltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
17



Table of Contents

Item 2 Properties

A summary of the Company’s principal propertieshswn in the following table. Each of these prapsris owned by
the Company except where otherwise noted:

Location
Littleton, Coloradd?

Newark, Delawar(®
High Point, North Carolina
Spencer, North Carolina

Crowley, LouisiandV
Ellesmere Port, United Kingdom

Singapore, Singapofg

Widnes, United Kingdom
Herne, German{
Leuna, Germany
Vernon, France

Milan, Italy @
Zug, Switzerlan(®

(1) Leased propert

Manufacturing Capacity

Reporting Segment

Operations

Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals Corporate Headquarters

Fuel Specialtie
Performance Chemicals

Performance Chemicals

Fuel Specialtie

Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol

Research & Developme
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic

Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemicals and European Headquarters

Octane Additives

Business Teams
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Development

Fuel Technology Centt

Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals Asia-Pacific Headquarters

Performance Chemicals

Fuel Specialties

Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals

Fuel Specialties

Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemi
Octane Additive:

Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol
Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Developme
Sales/Administratiol
Sales/Administratiol

We believe that our plants and supply agreemeatsu#ficient to meet current sales levels. Opegatites of the plan
are generally flexible and varied with product rand normal sales swings. We believe that all offacitities are
maintained to appropriate levels and in good opegatondition though there remains an ongoing rieedapital

investment.
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Item 3 Legal Proceedings

While we are involved from time to time in claimsdelegal proceedings that result from, and aredmedal to, the
conduct of our business including business and cemtiad litigation, employee and product liabilithaens, there are t
other material pending legal proceedings to whith@ompany or any of its subsidiaries is a pamyfaevhich any of
their property is subject. It is possible howevkat an adverse resolution of an unexpectedly laugeber of such
individual items could in the aggregate have a naltadverse effect on results of operations fpagicular year or
quarter.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASD#fer the symbol “IOSP.” As of February 8, 2013 ¢heere
1,008 registered holders of the common stock. dhewing table shows the closing high and low psioé our
common stock for each of the last eight quarters:

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2012

High $32.81 $31.8( $33.92 $34.4¢

Low $28.27 $25.5¢ $29.6¢ $29.57
2011

High $31.9¢ $37.6¢ $35.6¢ $31.4¢

Low $19.1¢ $30.8¢ $21.7¢ $22.3¢
Dividends

The Company declared the following cash dividendtie year ended December 31, 2012.

Date declared Stockholders of recorc Date paid Amount per share

December 3, 201 December 14, 201 December 21, 20: $2.00

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@aslving credit facility which contains no restrais on our ability
to declare dividends and the Company is allowa@pairchase its own common stock as long as wenarempliance
with the financial covenants in the credit facility

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
No purchases of equity securities by the issuaffdrated purchasers were made during the foudrter of 2012
Repurchased common stock is held as treasury stdeks reissued under equity compensation plans.

The Company’s most recent Rule 10b5-1 and/or 10kef8rchase plan ended on December 31, 2011 arefdhethe
Company made no repurchases under such plans tn ZB& Company repurchased stock up to a tota2®fmillion
in 2010 and 2011 under its previous plan which cemeed on November 8, 2010 and allowed the Comgany t
repurchase up to $5.0 million of common stock afipua 2010, 2011 and 2012. However,
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on September 7, 2011 the Company announced th8oidwel of Directors had authorized an increaséanes
repurchases under such Rule 10b5-1 and/or 10bpl@8alease plan from up to $5.0 million of commorcktto up to
$40.0 million of common stock, dependent on macketditions. The plan was also amended to termiorate
December 31, 2011. The Company may approve fusthene repurchase programs in the future but threreuarently
no active repurchase plans in place.

The Company has authorized securities for issuander equity compensation plans. The informatiantaioed in the
table under the heading “Equity Compensation Planffie Proxy Statement is incorporated hereinddgrence. The
current limit for the total amount of shares whaan be issued or awarded under the Company’s tiogk ®ption plans
is 2,640,000.
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total netioistockholders on the common stock of the Carpmm, S&P
500 Index, NASDAQ Composite Index and Russell 20@@x since December 31, 2007, assuming a $10Gtimeant
and the re-investment of any dividends thereafter.

Innospec Ing. v S&P 500, NASDAC Composite and Ryssell 2000 Indices
Total Betuern to Stockholders sinice December 31, 2007

250

150

50 4

WYialue of 51040 Investment made December 31, 2007

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

—8—Imospee Ine,  —M=5&P 500 =—#=NASDAQ Composite === Russell 2000

Value of $100 Investment made December 31, 2007*
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Innospec Inc 100.0¢ 35.1z 61.4( 124.1: 170.8. 222.0¢
S&P 500 Inde» 100.0¢ 61.51 75.9¢ 85.6¢ 85.6f 97.1:
NASDAQ Composite Inde 100.0C 59.4¢ 85.5¢ 100.0: 98.2z 113.8¢
Russell 2000 Inde 100.0C 65.2C 81.6¢ 102.3( 96.7z 110.8¢

* Excludes purchase commissions

22



Tal

ble of Contents

Item 6 Selected Financial Date
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(in

millions, except financial ratios, share and pe

share data)

Su

mmary of performance:

Net sales

Impairment of Octane Additives segment good
Operating incom:

Income before income tax

Income taxe:

Net income

Net income attributable to the r-controlling interes
Net income attributable to Innospec |

Net cash provided by operating activit

Financial position at year end:

Total asset

Long-term debt (including current portio

Cash and cash equivalents, and «term investment
Stockholder' equity

Financial ratios:

Sh

1)
(2)

Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. as a peage of
sales

Effective tax rate as a percent«®

Current ratic®

are data:

Earnings per share attributable to Innospec

— Basic

— Diluted

Dividend paid per shai

Shares outstanding (basic, thousai

— At year enc

— Average during yee

Closing stock prict

— High

- Low

— At year enc

2012 2011
$ 776.¢ $ 774.¢
(1.2 (2.0
98.4 49.¢
95.2 52.¢
(26.9) (3.7)
68.7 48.¢
0.C 0.C
68.7 48.¢
61.7 34.7
579.¢ 568.¢
30.C 35.C
27.5 81.C

$ 317.C $ 343.1
8.8 6.3
28.z 7.C
2.C 2.2

$ 2.9 $ 2.07
$ 2.8¢ $ 1.9¢
$ 2.0C $ 0.0C
23,33: 23,047
23,18’ 23,56¢
$ 34.4¢ $ 37.6¢
$ 25.5¢ $ 19.1¢
$ 34.4¢ $ 28.07

The effective tax rate is calculated as a percentdgncome before income tax

Current ratio is defined as current assets divledurrent liabilities

23

2010 2009
$ 683.2 $ 598.
2.2) 2.2)
72.2 20.7
70.7 18.2
3. (11.9
73.7 6.4
0.C 0.C
73.7 6.4
58.2 87.4
549. 543.]
47.( 51.C
111. 68.
$ 300.7 $ 157.¢
10.€ 1.1
(4.2) 65.C
2. 1.6

$ 3.1C $ 0.27
$ 2.97 $ 0.2€
$ 0.0C $ 0.0F
23,70: 23,66¢
23,75¢ 23,64:
$ 22.4C $ 15.6:
$ 8.6¢ $ 2.7¢
$ 20.4( $ 10.0¢

2008

$ 640.F
(3.7)
43.¢
18.¢
(6.9)
12.6
(0.1)
12.F
14.2

494.:
73.C
13.¢

$ 229.C

2.C
33.C
1.4

$ 0.5:
$ 0.51
$ 0.1C

23,59¢
23,59t

$ 25.2¢
$ 4.5¢
$ 5.8¢
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY

First Second Third Fourth
(in millions, except per share datg Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2012
Net sales $200.¢ $178.k $183.¢ $213.7
Gross profi 64.C 56.7 50.7 65.C
Operating incom 31.2 24.1 17.5 25.¢
Net income® 24.¢ 15.5 15.5 12.7
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 18.C $ 12 $ 28.7 $ 2.2
Per common shar
Earnings basic $ 1.07 $ 0.67 $ 0.67 $ 0.54
—diluted $ 1.0¢ $ 0.6F $ 0.6f $ 0.5:
2011
Net sales $185.¢ $186.- $202.] $200.t
Gross profi 52.¢ 58.1 57.7 57.¢
Operating income/(los: 23.€ 22.4 (20.2) 23.t
Net income/(loss® 21.t 24.¢€ (16.9) 19.€
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 5.7 $ 5.8 $ 94 $ 13.€
Per common shar
Earnings/(loss- basic $ 0.91 $ 1.04 $ (0.7]) $ 0.8t
—diluted® $ 0.8¢ $ 1.0C $ (0.7)) $ 0.82
NOTES

(1) Inview of the fact that a net loss of $(16@)lion was made in the third quarter, 2011, theiband diluted loss per common share are
the same for this quarte

(2) Special items, before tax, during the year endeckBer 31, 2012 comprised the followil

First Second Third Fourth
(in millions) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2012
Tax impact of acquisitic-related funding $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C $ (7.9
Foreign currency exchange gains/(los: 1.1 (4.3 (0.2 1.2
Adjustment of income tax provisiol 0.C 0.C 0.2 (0.3
Acquisitior-related cost $ 0.C $ 0.C $ (0.9 $ (2.5
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY (continued)
(3) Special items, before tax, during the year endeckBer 31, 2011 comprised the followil

First Second
(in millions) Quarter Quarter
2011
Civil complaint settlemer $ 0.C $ 0.C
Foreign currency exchange gains/(los: 5.k 7.6
Civil complaint legal and professional expen (1.0 (3.0
Adjustment of income tax provisiol (0.2 0.C
Acquisitior-related cost $ 0.C $ 0.C
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Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter
$(45.0 $ 0.C
(4.3 (2.6)
(1.5) 0.C
(3.2) (0.6)
$ (3.0 $ 0.C
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Item 7 Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of
Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with consolidated financial statements and the rtbteto.
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Our business performance in 2012 was against agbaakd of continued weakness in European demandodihe on-
going economic difficulties, especially in South&uropean countries. Demand in other developed etsdontinued
to show slow growth, while enhanced demand for &unel personal care products in emerging marketstedo
prospects in South America and Asia-Pacific. Altjoglobal fuel demand was relatively weak, the majeakness
was in gasoline demand in the developed markei&uiadpe and North America, driven mainly by a sigaift
improvement in vehicle fuel economy. Diesel demdrmyever, was stronger, supported by global comiaidieet
demand, and passenger car demand in Europe. Tlasrimited new legislation in the developed markeith a slow
roll out of sulfur and biofuel legislation in otherarkets. Strong demand from the oil and gas seubdably in North
America, provided a positive environment for ouscent Oilfield Specialties business, while consudenand for
contaminant-free and natural/renewable cosmeti@dignts provides a driver for new technology irspeal care.
Economic difficulties in the European markets hdsigen softer demand for our Polymers business.

We have managed our investments in capital equipmamking capital and recruitment of additionaillekl personnel
in line with these market factors. Our capital peog and expenses during 2012 included investmesniew
information system platform, which we expect to adtlie to our business in 2014. During 2012, wepeted the
acquisition of Strata Control Services, Inc. (“&rato help build-out our presence in Oilfield $pdties, and we
continue to seek further opportunities for thisaare2013. We also made a non-binding offer forftR€ Group, and
later withdrew this offer as we felt that we coulot derive sufficient shareholder value from thald&his aborted
transaction resulted in a $2.1 million charge fogasition-related costs in the fourth quarter. &l&o instituted a one-
time special dividend of $2.00 per share, which paisl on December 21, 2012 to shareholders of demor
December 14, 2012.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finandialeé®nents includes a summary of the significanbating policies
and methods used in the preparation of the coraelidfinancial statements.

Contingencies

We are subject to legal, regulatory and other grdiceys and claims. The Company discloses informatamcerning
contingent liabilities in respect of these claimsl @roceedings for which an unfavorable outcommase than remote
and the potential loss could materially
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impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows. We recognize within selling, gahand
administrative expenses liabilities for these ckaind proceedings when it is probable that the Gompas incurred a
loss based on an unfavorable outcome and the ambtime loss can be reasonably estimated and weagndto fairly
present, in conjunction with the disclosures osthmatters in our consolidated financial statememdéhagement’s
view of our exposure. We review outstanding clagmd proceedings with external counsel as apprepiaeassess
probability and estimates of loss. When the redslensstimate is a range, the recognized liability lve the best
estimate within the range. If no amount in the misga better estimate than any other amount theemtnimum amoui
of the range will be recognized.

We reevaluate our assessments each quarter or as nesigaifccant information becomes available. Theauattost o
ultimately resolving a claim or proceeding may lgmgicantly different from the amount of the recoged liability. In
addition, because it is not permissible to recogaiziability until the loss is both probable arstimable, in some cases
there may be insufficient time to recognize a liggbprior to the actual incurrence of the lossd@upverdict and
judgment at trial, for example, or in the case glakly negotiated settlemen

Environmental Liabilities

Remediation provisions at December 31, 2012 amdunt&29.3 million and relate principally to ouldsmere Port
site in the United Kingdom. We recognize environtakhabilities when they are probable and costs lsa reasonably
estimated, and asset retirement obligations wheretis a legal obligation and costs can be reagpeabmated. The
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future expected costs,angdlg with
environmental legislation in the countries in whitbperates or has operated in. The Company viba/sosts of
vacating our Ellesmere Port site as contingent upband when it vacates the site because there @esent intention
do so. The Company has further determined thatfaltlee uncertain product life of TEL particulantythe market for
aviation gasoline and other products being manufadton site, there are uncertainties as to thiegtibty and timing
of the expected costs. Such uncertainties have ¢xmesidered in estimating the provision.

Pensions

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension pievering a number of its current and former elygds in the
United Kingdom. The Company also has other mucHlemaension arrangements in the U.S. and oversedishe
obligations under those plans are not material. Jiéed Kingdom plan is closed to future serviceraal, but has a
large number of deferred and current pensioners.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value anePted Benefit Obligation (“PBQO”) are dependentaatual return
on investments as well as our assumptions in régihéice discount rate, annual member mortalitgsafuture return
on assets and future inflation. A
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change in any one of these assumptions could intpagilan asset value, PBO and pension chargenmizaubin the
income statement. Such changes could adverselyctroparesults of operations and financial positieor example, a
0.25% change in the discount rate assumption wchéage the PBO by approximately $26 million andrteéepension
charge for 2013 by approximately $0.8 million. 8% change in the level of price inflation assumptivould change
the PBO by approximately $23 million and the netgien charge for 2013 by approximately $2.1 million

Further information is provided in Note 9 of thetBl®to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Deferred Tax and Uncertain Income Tax Positions

At December 31, 2012, no valuation allowance isiregl against our foreign tax credit carry forwandthin deferred
tax as management believes that all the foreigrtadit carry forwards can be utilized in futureipds prior to their
expiration.

No deferred taxes have been provided for the urttesneéarnings of our overseas subsidiaries asalyasis
differences relating to investments in these oaseibsidiaries are considered to be permanentation. We have r
current intention to repatriate past or future gey® of our overseas subsidiaries and considetlieate earnings have
been reinvested overseas. If circumstances watleaioge that would cause these earnings to be isgpdtan addition:
U.S. tax liability could be incurred, and we con@nto monitor this position.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves éwating uncertainties in the application of compiax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for anticipated tax auditues based on our estimate of whether, and thetewterhich, additional
taxes will be required. If we ultimately determihat payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weesesthe liability
and recognize a tax benefit during the period inctvive determine that the liability is no longecassary.

We also recognize tax benefits to the extent thatmore likely than not that our positions wiét bustained, based on
technical merits, when challenged by the taxingpauties. To the extent that we prevail in matterswhich liabilities
have been established, or are required to pay asmouexcess of our liabilities, our effective tate in a given period
may be materially affected. An unfavorable taxleetent may require cash payments and result in@ease in our
effective tax rate in the year of resolution. Adaable tax settlement may be recognized as a rieduatour effective
tax rate in the year of resolution. We report iestrand penalties related to uncertain income ¢akipns as income
taxes. For additional information regarding undartacome tax positions see Note 10 of the NotdakeaConsolidated
Financial Statements.

Goodwill

The Company’s reporting units, the level at whidodwill is tested for impairment, are consisternttwvthe reportable
segments: Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemindl©atane Additives. The components in each seg(matding
products, markets and competitors)
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have similar economic characteristics and the satgntherefore, reflect the lowest level at whige@tions and cash
flows can be sufficiently distinguished, operatitynand for financial reporting purposes, from tiest of the Compan
The Company tests goodwill annually for impairmemtbetween years if events occur or circumstanbhaage which

suggest that an impairment may have occurred.

The Company performs its annual goodwill testespect of Fuel Specialties and Performance Chesrésat
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairticharge the fair values of the reporting segmard estimated
using an after-tax cash flow methodology based anagement’s best available estimates at that filmekey
assumptions underpinning these calculations indlutige revenue growth, gross margins and the Cogipaveighted
average cost of capital. At December 31, 2012 vae#id4 7.6 million and $30.1 million of goodwill réilag to our Fuel
Specialties and Performance Chemicals segmenpeatdgely. Our annual impairment tests as of suatie chdicated n
impairment because the estimated fair values &eheporting segments substantially exceeded tingrog values.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octaneditdres market globally, as the Company makes s#l€3ctane
Additives in each quarter, future remaining sales$ e@orresponding cash flows that can be derivea ftte Octane
Additives segment are being reduced, and accordthgl fair value of the Octane Additives segmeratis® reduced. £
a result, the Company determined that quarterlyaimpent tests should be performed from Januar9@4 2nd any
impairment charge arising be recognized in theveglequarter. As a result of the Octane Additivepairment tests
performed during 2012, 2011 and 2010 impairmentgdgof $1.2 million, $2.0 million and $2.2 milliprespectively,
have been recognized. These charges are non-caatumre and have no impact on taxation. In 2012esohthe
assumptions and estimates relating to the Octai?els segment discounted cash flows were revasgoiart of our
planning processes (although the overall methogologs unchanged). These revisions had no mater@at on the
reporting of goodwill. There was $1.3 million ofggwill remaining at December 31, 2012 which reldtethe Octane
Additives segment and equates to the fair valube@foodwill at that date. Given the amount andligtability of the
remaining future cash flows from the Octane Ad@it\segment the Company expects goodwill impaircieartges to
be recognized in the income statement on an appaigistraight-line basis to December 31, 2013. Wewsesince the
remaining sales of the Octane Additives segmentaneentrated around a relatively small numbemustamers, there
is a risk that they could dramatically decline tesg in an accelerated impairment of the Octanéifhdes segment
goodwill as the forecast discounted cash flows ftbat segment would be reduced.

While we believe our assumptions for impairmentstese reasonable, they are subjective judgmemdsit & possible
that variations in any of the assumptions may tesuhaterially different calculations of impairmesharges, if any.
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Other Intangible Assets (Net of Amortization) and FPoperty, Plant and Equipment

At December 31, 2012 we had $68.6 million of ofiéaingible assets (net of amortization), and $48ilBon of
property, plant and equipment, that are discussé&tbtes 7 and 5 of the Notes to the Consolidatadriaial Statemeni
respectively. These long-lived assets relate tofadur reporting segments and are being amortizetepreciated
straight-line over periods of up to 13 years irpees of the other intangible assets and up to 2Bsyi@ respect of the
property, plant and equipment.

We continually assess the markets and productedeta these long-lived assets, as well as theiciBp carrying
values, and have concluded that these carryingeggsahnd amortization and depreciation periods, irea@propriate.

We also test these long-lived assets for any pialéntpairment when events occur or circumstanéasge which
suggest that an impairment may have occurred. Tiypss of events or changes in circumstances doaldde, but are
not limited to:

* introduction of new products with enhanced featimesur competitors

» loss of, material reduction in purchases by, or-renewal of a contract by, a significant custon

» prolonged decline in business or consumer spen

» sharp and unexpected rise in raw material, cheroicahergy costs; ar

* new laws or regulations inhibiting the developmemhnufacture, distribution or sale of our produ

In order to facilitate this testing the Companyupse together assets at the lowest possible levaltiach cash flow
information is available. Undiscounted future cfistvs expected to result from the asset groupsangpared with the
carrying value of the assets and, if such cashdflase lower, an impairment loss may be recognikkd.amount of the
impairment loss is the difference between thevaiue and the carrying value of the assets. Féilregaare determined
using post-tax cash flows discounted at the Compamgighted average cost of capital. If events oceu
circumstances change it may cause a reductionriodseover which these long-lived assets are amexttor
depreciated, or result in a non-cash impairmesat pdrtion of their carrying value. A reduction immartization or
depreciation periods would have no effect on cashs.

We are continuing with the implementation of a neampany-wide, information system platform. Thetfolan
provider is well established in the market. Thelenpentation will be a phased, risk-managed, sifgoyenent and
follow a multistage user acceptance program wighetkisting platform providing a fallback positidnternally
developed software and other costs capitalizeceae®ber 31, 2012 were $10.1 million (2011 — $3.lian). No
amortization was recognized in 2012 (2011 — $0l0an).
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table provides operating income byaeing segment:

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $ 527.2 $ 521.2 $ 458.]
Performance Chemica 179.€ 177.C 152.7
Octane Additive: 69.€ 76.2 72.4

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $ 158.7 $ 149.: $ 145.¢
Performance Chemica 43.€ 40.¢€ 33.c
Octane Additive: 33.¢€ 36.E 34.¢

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie $ 87. $ 8l.7 $ 77.€
Performance Chemica 24.c 22.€ 16.7
Octane Additive: 26.C (22.9) 25.¢
Pension credit/(charg 0.2 (0.5 (10.§)
Corporate cost (38.t (29.2) (26.%)
Restructuring charg (0.2 (0.€) (8.7
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good (1.2 (2.0) (2.2
Profit on disposal, ne 0.1 0.C 0.1
Total operating incom $ 98.4 $ 49.€ $ 72.C
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2012 compared to el 2011:

(in millions, except ratios 2012 2011 Change

Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $ 527.2 $ 521.- $ 6.C +1%

Performance Chemica 179.¢ 177.( 2.€ +1%

Octane Additive: 69.€ 76.2 (6.€) -9%
$ 776.¢ $ 774.¢ $ 2.C 0%

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $ 158.7 $ 149.: $ 9.4 +6%

Performance Chemica 43.¢ 40.¢ 3.2 +8%

Octane Additive: 33.€ 36.5 (2.6) -7%
$ 236.4 $ 226. $ 10.C +4%

Gross margin (%):

Fuel Specialtie 30.1 28.6 +1.5

Performance Chemica 24.4 22.9 +1.5

Octane Additive: 48.7 47.9 +0.8

Aggregate 30.4 29.2 +1.2

Operating expenses

Fuel Specialtie $ (71.)) $ (67.€ $ (3.5) +5%

Performance Chemica (19.5 (18.0) (1.5 +8%

Octane Additive: (7.€ (58.9) 51.C -87%

Pension credit/(charg 0.2 (0.5) 0.8 n/e

Corporate cost (38.5) (29.2) (9.9 +32%

$(136.7) $(174.9) $ 37.5 -22%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabim
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Avtel Total
Volume -4 +3 -5 -24 -3
Price and product mi +7 +6 +12 +6 +7
Exchange rate 0 -8 -1 0 -3

+3 +1 +6 -18 +1

Sales volumes in both the Americas and ASPAC dedlfor the second year running primarily due todogales of
high volume but low margin products, offset by legkales of more added value products, resultiragimproved
price and product mix in both these markets. Sadsmes, and price and product mix, in EMEA conéiduo benefit i
2012 from new contracts and contract amendmengseghinto in 2011, partially offset by a
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weakening of the European Union euro and Britistinglosterling against the U.S. dollar. Avtel volundeslined 24%
in 2012, compared to a 13% increase in 2011, dtlgettiming of shipments to customers as opposatyachange in
the long-term outlook for that market. This Avtales volume decline was partially offset by an ioyed customer
mix.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.5 percentage poimrily reflected a lower proportion of saledaiver
margin products, specifically in the Americas areBPRAC markets, and the continued benefit in 20l1th@hew
contracts and contract amendments entered int0lih. 2Many of the raw materials that we use arevddrirom
petrochemical-based feedstocks and their costs kesserolatile due to the stable crude oil pricgsegienced in 2012.

Operating expensethe year on year increase of 5%, or $3.5 millioaswrimarily due to the release of a $3.7 million
accrual in respect of an old customer claim infits¢ quarter of 2011 which did not recur in 20T2is increase was
partially offset by the $0.5 million favorable imgaf foreign currency exchange rates on our Elanm®st base
denominated in European Union euro and British paatarling.

Performance Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabm
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Total
Volume +1¢ -8 +1 +4
Price and product mi +1 +1 +5 +1
Exchange rate -1 -6 -2 -4

+1¢ -13 +4 +1

Overall sales volumes increased in this segmepitgethe competitive pressures faced in all theketarwe serve.
Improved sales volumes within the Personal Car&ketdocused in the Americas and the global Fragrangredients
market, were partially offset by lower volumes doeveaker demand in our Polymers market whichdsiged in
EMEA. Price and product mix was substantially umgjed in our larger Americas and EMEA markets, agwefitted
in ASPAC due to the higher proportion of more addaldie products sold in 2012. Sales in all our ratrkbut notably
EMEA, suffered from a weakening of the Europeanddreuro and British pound sterling against the ddHar.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.5 percentage pafiected the continued improvement in demand a&cro
the markets despite the competitive pressures oginsawith the exception of our Polymers markeeaker demand

in our Polymers market resulted in lower sales nas and sales prices with a consequential adveyssct on gross
margin. Many of the raw materials that we use @amevdd from petrochemical-based feedstocks andemefiited from
the fact that their costs were less volatile duhéostable crude oil prices experienced in 2012.
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Operating expensethe year on year increase of 8%, or $1.5 millioas\ywrimarily in respect of $1.2 million higher
personnel-related compensation costs, partiallsedtby the $0.5 million favorable impact of foreigmrrency exchange
rates on our European cost base denominated irp&amoJnion euro and British pound sterling.

Octane Additives

Net salesdecreased by 9% entirely in respect of lower vokisiace sales mix and revenue from our environrhenta
remediation business were unchanged. In both 26d2@11, sales were focused in the Middle EastNorthern
Africa.

Gross marginincreased marginally by 0.8 percentage points #@m8% to 48.7%.

Operating expensesecreased by $51.0 million primarily due to the that the impact of the $45.0 million
NewMarket Corporation civil complaint settlementassociated $5.5 million legal and other professiexpenses i
2011 did not recur in 2012.

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension credit/(chargeis non-cash, and was a $0.3 million credit and.& $flllion charge in 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Corporate coststhe year on year increase of 32%, or $9.3 millmimarily reflected $4.7 million higher accrualg fo
share based compensation expense, driven by theygaar rise in our stock price, including a $3flion higher
charge in respect of the long-term incentive pldre remainder of the increase was due to $2.7amilligher legal and
other professional expenses and $2.1 million highfermation technology service platform costs. Aisifion-related
costs were $2.8 million and $3.0 million in 20121&011, respectively.

Restructuring chargecomprised the following:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Reduction in EMEA headcount $0.2 $0.7
Release of an accrual in respect of the relocati@nU.S. sales and administration faci 0.C (0.7)

$0.2 $0.€

Impairment of Octane Additives segment goodwas $1.2 million and $2.0 million in 2012 and 20dgspectively.
Effective October 1, 2011, we updated the estimades in the detailed forecast model to calculagmirment charges
to reflect the Company’s extended estimate forfuthigre life of our Octane Additives segment fromcBmber 31, 2012
to December 31, 2013, resulting in a lower chavge.expect the impairment of Octane Additives segrgendwill
charge for the year ending December 31, 2013 &ppeoximately $1.3 million.

34



Table of Contents

Profit on disposal, nefin 2012 the Company recognized $0.1 million prfdfitowing the disposal of surplus real estate

Other net income/(expens®}her net expense of $2.0 million primarily relatedosses on translation of net assets
denominated in non-functional currencies in ourdpean businesses offset by net foreign exchange gaiforeign
currency forward exchange contracts. In 2011, atleeincome of $6.3 million was comprised of $6 iliom of net
foreign currency exchange gains and gains on &#oslof net assets denominated in non-functionalencies in our
European businesses, and $0.2 million sundry akgenses.

Interest expense, nedecreased from $3.3 million to $1.2 million dughe lower average level of debt in 2012 and
losses on interest rate swaps in 2011.

Income taxe: the effective tax rate was 28.3% and 7.0% in 281@ 2011, respectively. The effective tax rateeon
adjusted for the NewMarket Corporation civil comptaettlement, adjustment of income tax provisiand for the tax
impact of acquisition-related funding, was 20.3%2@12 compared with 15.8% in 2011. The Companyebes that
this adjusted effective tax rate, a non-GAAP finahmeasure, provides useful information to investtind may assist
them in evaluating the Company’s underlying perfange and identifying operating trends. In additmanagement
uses this non-GAAP financial measure internallgwtaluate the performance of the Company’s opersigonl for
planning and forecasting in subsequent periods.

(in millions, except ratios’ 2012 2011
Income before income tax $95.2 $52.¢€
Add back NewMarket Corporation civil complaint settent 0.C _45.(C
$95.2 $97.€
Income taxe: $26.¢ $ 3.7
Add back tax on NewMarket Corporation civil complasettlemen 0.C 15.7
Add back adjustment of income tax provisic (0.2 (4.0
Add back tax impact of acquisiti-related funding (7.9 _0.C
$19.c $15.4
GAAP effective tax rat 28.2% _1.%
Adjusted effective tax ral 20.2% _15.8%

In addition to those mentioned above, the followiagtors had a significant impact on the Compaejfsctive tax rate
as compared to the U.S. federal income tax ra8sei:

(in millions) 2012 2011

Foreign tax rate differenti $(15.€) $ (9.9
Foreign income inclusior 46.5 10.7
Foreign tax credit (36.5) (13.5)
Deferred tax credit from United Kingdom income tate reductior $ (0.5 $ (2.5
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The impact on the effective tax rate from profisreed in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax ratemies as the
geographical mix of the Company’s profits changesryon year. In 2012, the Company’s income tax es@®enefited
from a greater proportion of its overall profitssamg in Switzerland than in 2011. This resulteci$i12.0 million
benefit in Switzerland (2011 — $8.9 million). Indiiibn, there was a $3.3 million benefit in relatito the United
Kingdom (2011 — $0.1 million) and a $0.7 millionndit in relation to Germany (2011 — $0.9 million).

Foreign income inclusions arise each year fromagetypes of income earned overseas being taxalolerl).S. tax
regulations. These types of income include Suldpartome, principally from foreign based companigsan the
United Kingdom, including the associated Sectionag8gross up, and also from the income earnechyio overseas
subsidiaries taxable under the U.S. tax regim@0i2, the amount of Subpart F income and the assacSection 78
gross up amounted to $4.3 million (2011 — $3.0ia1i)l. The income earned by certain overseas swvgditaxable
under the U.S. tax regime increased to $2.5 milliom $2.0 million in 2011. In addition, a dividefrdm an overseas
subsidiary, remitted to the U.S., increased for@gome inclusions by $39.0 million during 2012 120- %.5 million).

Foreign tax credits can fully or partially offseese incremental U.S. taxes from foreign incomkigions. The
utilization of foreign tax credits varies year agay as this is dependent on a number of variabterawhich are
difficult to predict and may in certain years prevany offset of foreign tax credits. During 2048, overseas dividend
was remitted to the U.S. to provide funding for @@mpanys acquisition program. In total, $42.8 million oféign tax
credits were utilized during 2012 to partially @fthe incremental U.S. taxes arising from foreigrome inclusions in
the year. Of this balance, $14.2 million of foretgw credit carry forwards from earlier years wébzed. This resulted
in a decrease in the recognition of foreign taxitrearry forwards of $6.6 million during the yg2011 —a $9.4 millior
increase). The total tax cost of funding the Conyfmacquisition program was $7.4 million.

Following the United Kingdom’s 2% reduction in tb@rporation tax rate from 25% to 23% in April 20&Bacted in
July 2012, the Company benefitted from a net detetax credit of $0.5 million (2011 — $2.5 millioim)the third
quarter of 2012 primarily in relation to the deéstitax position of the United Kingdom defined bénaénsion plan.

Further details are given in Note 10 of the Notethe Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2011 compared to €&l 2010:

(in millions, except ratios 2011 2010 Change

Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $521.2 $ 458.1 $ 63.1 +14%
Performance Chemica 177.C 152.7 24.: +16%
Octane Additive: 76.2 72.2 3. +5%

$ 774.4 $ 683. $ 91.2 +13%

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $ 149.: $ 145.¢ $ 34 +2%

Performance Chemica 40.€ 33.c 7.2 +22%

Octane Additive: 36.5 34.¢ 1.€ +5%
$ 226.4 $214.] $12.2 +6%

Gross margin (%):

Fuel Specialtie 28.6 31.8 -3.2

Performance Chemica 22.9 21.8 +1.1

Octane Additive: 47.9 48.2 -0.3

Aggregate 29.2 31.3 2.1

Operating expenses

Fuel Specialtie $ (67.6) $ (68.9) $ 0.7 -1%

Performance Chemica (18.0) (16.€) (1.4) +8%

Octane Additive: (58.9) (9.7) (49.9) n/e

Pension credit/(charg (0.5 (10.9) 10.2 -95%

Corporate cost (29.2) (26.9) (2.9) +11%

$(174.9  $(13L1)  $(43.)  +3%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabim
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Avtel Total
Volume -2 i -9 +13 +1
Price and product mi +11 +9 +13 +8 +11
Exchange rate 0 +5 +1 0 +2

+9 +21 +5 +21 +14

Sales volumes in both the Americas and ASPAC dedlprimarily due to lower sales of high volume lowt margin
products, offset by higher sales of more addedevptoducts, resulting in an improved price and pobanix in both
these markets. Sales volumes, and price and praaucin EMEA benefitted from new contracts and tcant
amendments
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entered into in 2011, and a strengthening of th@@ean Union euro and British pound sterling agaims U.S. dollar.
Avtel volumes improved due to the timing of shipriseto customers as opposed to any change in tigetésm outlook
for that market.

Gross marginthe year on year decrease of 3.2 percentage gwimarily reflected a higher proportion of sales of
lower margin products, specifically in the EMEA rkeir, and the competitive pressure on margins lieguitom
increased raw material costs despite the benefiteohew contracts and contract amendments. Matheataw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@sed feedstocks and increases in their cost dreren by the
general increase in crude oil prices experienc&dirl. In periods when raw material costs aregisinere is generally
a time lag before we are in a position, contra¢yuzl otherwise, to raise our prices to customeith & consequential
adverse impact on margins during that lag.

Operating expenseghe year on year decrease of 1%, or $0.7 milliaas primarily due to the release of a $3.7 million
accrual in respect of an old customer claim infits¢ quarter of 2011. The release offsets incre@as®perating
expenses due to $0.8 million higher licensing caststhe $1.8 million adverse impact of foreignrency exchange
rates on our European cost base denominated irp&amoJnion euro and British pound sterling.

Performance Chemicals

Net salesthe table below details the components which coseptie year on year change in net sales spreaskabim
markets in which we operate:

Change (%) Americas EMEA ASPAC Total
Volume -7 -2 +12 -2
Price and product mi +14 +15 +13 +14
Exchange rate +1 +6 +3 +4

+8 +1€ +28 +1€

Overall sales volumes declined in this segmenéctfig the competitive pressures faced in all tiekets we serve but
especially within the Fragrance Ingredients maré#get by improved sales volumes within the Peas@are market.
Price and product mix was substantially improvedhprily in respect of our Polymers business whiehdfited from
high demand. Sales in all our markets, but not&ldbfEA, benefitted from a strengthening of the Euspé&nion euro
and British pound sterling against the U.S. dollar.

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.1 percentage pafiested the continued improvement in demand a&cro
the markets, especially our Polymers business,t@eie competitive pressures on margins resuftiog increased

raw material costs. Many of the raw materials thatuse are derived from petrochemical-based feekistand
increases in their cost were driven by the genecakase in crude oil prices experienced in 204 periods when raw
material costs are rising there is generally a fegebefore we are in a position, contractuallpthrerwise, to raise our
prices to customers with a consequential adverpac¢tron margins during that lag.
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Operating expensethe year on year increase of 8%, or $1.4 millioas\ess than the 16% growth in sales as we
continued to leverage the infrastructure of thgnsent. The increase in operating expenses primadifged to $0.7
million higher personnel-related compensation ¢a@s®0.5 million adverse impact of foreign curreesghange rates
on our European cost base denominated in Europe&m @uro and British pound sterling, and $0.2iomllhigher
REACH costs.

Octane Additives

Net salesincreased by 5% with increased volumes (up 4 péagerpoints) and an improved sales mix (up 3 péage
points) offset by reduced revenue from our envirental remediation business (down 2 percentagegointboth
2011 and 2010, sales were focused in the Middlé &asNorthern Africa.

Gross margindecreased marginally by 0.3 percentage points #812% to 47.9%.

Operating expensegicreased by $49.8 million due to the $45.0 millldewMarket Corporation civil complaint
settlement and $1.3 million higher associated legdl other professional expenses in 2011, and3i@ersillion
adjustment to the settlement accrual related toRO&ikl FCPA investigations resulting in a releagbédancome
statement in 2010.

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension credit/(chargethis non-cash charge decreased by $10.3 milli®®0t6 million reflecting the reduction in the
pension liability and the near elimination of tlesce cost since the Company closed the Unitedy#fom defined
benefit pension plan to future service accrual wifiect from March 31, 2010.

Corporate costswere $29.2 million, compared with $26.3 million @ay ago. The year on year increase of $2.9 millic
primarily reflected $2.8 million higher accrualg &hare based compensation expense, driven bylistasitial year on
year rise in our stock price, including a $0.8 ioillhigher charge in respect of the long-term itigerplan; and
acquisition-related costs of $3.0 million. A $3.48limn charge for the probable cost of the Compargxternal
compliance monitor was recognized in 2010.

Restructuring chargecomprised the following:

(in millions) 2011 201C
Reduction in EMEA headcount $0.7 $0.E
Release of an accrual in respect of the relocati@nU.S. sales and administration faci (0.7) 0.C
Pension curtailmer 0.C 8.2

$0.€ $8.7
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The Company closed its United Kingdom defined biepeision plan to future service accrual with effieom
March 31, 2010 and accordingly we recorded a nah-cartailment loss of $8.2 million in the firstagter of 2010.

Impairment of Octane Additives segment goodwas $2.0 million and $2.2 million in 2011 and 20déspectively.
Effective October 1, 2011, we updated the estimasesl in the detailed forecast model to calculagairment charges
to reflect the Company’s extended estimate forfutigre life of our Octane Additives segment fromcBmber 31, 2012
to December 31, 2013, resulting in a lower charge.

Profit on disposal, nefin 2010 the Company recognized $0.1 million prfdfitowing the disposal of surplus real estate

Other net income/(expens®y. $6.3 million was comprised of $6.5 million oftrfereign currency exchange gains and
gains on translation of net assets denominatedrrfunctional currencies in our European businesses $0.2 million
sundry other expenses. In 2010, other net incon$&.df million related to net foreign currency excgea gains.

Interest expense, nethe net interest expense, including amortizatiodedérred finance costs, decreased from $4.6
million to $3.3 million due to the lower level oébt in 2011 and the deferred finance costs becofalfygamortized in
the third quarter of 2011.

Income taxe: the effective tax rate was 7.0% and (4.2)% in12@dd 2010, respectively. The effective tax rateeo
adjusted for non-recurring items relating to thevNtarket Corporation civil complaint settlement, tadjustment of
income tax provisions and for the OFFP and FCP#eseént accrual, was 15.8% in 2011 compared wit6%3n
2010. The Company believes that this adjusted @ffetax rate, a non-GAAP financial measure, presidseful
information to investors and may assist them ifweatang the Company’s underlying performance arhidying
operating trends. In addition, management usetdnsGAAP financial measure internally to evaludie performance
of the Company’s operations and for planning amddasting in subsequent periods.

(in millions, except ratios 2011 2010
Income before income taxes $52.€ $70.7
Add back NewMarket Corporation civil complaint sattent 45.C 0.C
Add back OFFP/FCPA settlement accr _0.C (8.0
$97.€ $67.7
Income taxe: $ 3.7 $(3.0
Add back tax on NewMarket Corporation civil complagettlemen 15.7 0.C
Add back adjustment of income tax provisic (4.0 12.2
$154  $92
GAAP effective tax rat _1.% _(4.9%
Adjusted effective tax rat _15.8% _13.6%
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In addition to those mentioned above, the followiagtors had a significant impact on the Compaejfsctive tax rate
as compared to the U.S. federal income tax ra8sei:

(in millions) 2011 2010
Foreign tax rate differenti $ (9.9 $(9.5)
Foreign income inclusior 10.7 5.C
Foreign tax credit (13.5) (5.0
Tax deductibility of the OFFP/FCPA settlement aat 0.C (2.0
Deferred tax credit from United Kingdom income take reductiot $ (2.5 $(1.1)

The impact on the effective tax rate from profisreed in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax ratewies as the
geographical mix of the Company’s profits changesryon year. In 2011, the Company’s income tax es@®enefited
from a greater proportion of its overall profitssarg in Switzerland than in 2010, primarily refliexg increased sales in
our Octane Additives segment due to the timinghigdreents to major customers. This resulted in af $8llion

benefit in Switzerland (2010 — $6.5 million). Indiiibn, there was a $0.1 million benefit in relatito the United
Kingdom (2010 — $3.2 million) and a $0.9 millionrtdit in relation to Germany (2010 — $0.0 million).

Foreign income inclusions arise each year fromagetiypes of income earned overseas being taxaiolerw).S. tax
regulations. These types of income include Suldpartome, principally from foreign based companigsan the
United Kingdom, including the associated Sectiontad8gross up, and also from the income earnectkgia overseas
subsidiaries taxable under the U.S. tax regim@0Iil, the amount of Subpart F income and the astsacBection 78
gross up amounted to $3.0 million (2010 — $2.1liaon). The income earned by certain overseas swrgditaxable
under the U.S. tax regime reduced to $2.0 millimmf $2.9 million in 2010. In addition, a dividengifn an overseas
subsidiary, remitted to the U.S., increased forémgome inclusions by $5.5 million during 2011 (204 $0.0 million).

Foreign tax credits can fully or partially offseese incremental U.S. taxes from foreign incomkigions. The
utilization of foreign tax credits varies year agay as this is dependent on a number of variabterawhich are
difficult to predict and may in certain years prewvany offset of foreign tax credits. During 204, additional $6.1
million of foreign tax credit carry forwards werergrated, primarily due to the overseas dividendtted to the U.S.
in the year. This increase in foreign tax creditgforwards and accompanying extension of expraperiod allowed
the recognition of a further $9.4 million of foreigax credit carry forwards as compared to $2.Tioniin 2010.

Following the United Kingdom’s 2% reduction in tb@rporation tax rate from 27% to 25% in April 20&Racted in
July 2011, the Company benefited from a net dedeta® credit of $2.5 million in the third quarter2011 primarily in
respect of pension plan unrecognized actuaridiosses.

Further details are given in Note 10 of the Notethe Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working Capital

The Company believes that adjusted working camtalpn-GAAP financial measure, provides usefulnimi@tion to
investors in evaluating the Company’s underlyinggrenance and identifying operating trends. Managetnuses this
non-GAAP financial measure internally to allocaeaurces and evaluate the performance of the Corigpan
operations. Items excluded from the adjusted wagrkipital calculation are listed in the table bebkovd represent
factors which do not fluctuate in line with the dayday working capital needs of the business.

(in millions) 2012 2011

Total current asse $ 296.¢ $ 320.:
Total current liabilities (147.9) (146.0)
Working capital 149.: 174.:
Less cash and cash equivale (22.9) (76.2)
Less sho-term investment (5.7 4.9
Less current portion of deferred tax as: (11.0 0.C
Add back accrued income tax 3.2 2.C
Add back current portion of lo-term debr 5.C 5.C
Add back current portion of plant closure provis 5.1 4.1
Add back current portion of unrecognized tax bda: 3.C 3.2
Add back current portion of deferred tax liabils 0.2 0.C
Add back current portion of deferred inco 1.4 1.4
Adjusted working capite $ 128.7 $ 109.(

In 2012 our adjusted working capital (defined by @ompany as trade and other accounts receivalkntories,
prepaid expenses, accounts payable and the cpogian of accrued liabilities rather than totatreumt assets less total
current liabilities) increased by $19.7 millionwhich $2.2 million related to the working capitdl®trata purchased on
December 24, 2012 and included in the consolidasdahce sheet as at December 31, 2012.

The $16.3 million increase in trade and other ant®teceivable was predominantly focused in outt Bpecialties
segment whose fourth quarter sales increased 7%$4,008 million, compared to the fourth quarter @1.2. In addition,
days’sales outstanding in our Fuel Specialties segmerdemed from 40 days as at December 31, 2011 dayiglas ¢
December 31, 2012, though this was partially offfiged corresponding improvement in our Performa@icemicals
segment over the same period from 45 days to 48. dagde receivables in our Octane Additives segmenprimarily
driven by the timing of shipments to major custosnand the associated sales terms of those shipnoénthich there
was a significant shipment in both December 20122411 and accordingly trade and other accountsvalle in that
segment were largely unchanged.
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The $2.4 million increase in inventories was focliseour Performance Chemicals segment followirggdacision to
build certain product inventories of strategic intpace, and to facilitate the 9% sales growth addeluring the fourt
guarter and anticipated sales growth in 2013. Ds#f&s in inventory in our Fuel Specialties segndectined from 72
days as at December 31, 2011 to 69 days as at ec&h, 2012. However, days’ sales in inventorgun
Performance Chemicals segment increased subshaotialr the same period from 91 days to 101 dayseabuilt
inventories.

Prepaid expenses increased marginally from $4.\iomiio $4.1 million.

The moderate $0.9 million decrease in accountsipayand the current portion of accrued liabilitress primarily due
to payments made in 2012 to the Government AutberiODutside of those payments, accounts payabléhancurrent
portion of accrued liabilities in each of our rejimy segments as at December 31, 2012 and 201, largely
unchanged except for Performance Chemicals forlwtieditor days increased from 22 days to 41 dagsa#solute
level of accounts payable and the current porticacorued liabilities increased in line with protioa and inventories.

Operating Cash Flows

We generated cash from operating activities of $&dillion, $34.7 million and $58.2 million in 2012011 and 2010,
respectively. The increase in cash provided byaipey activities from 2011 to 2012 of $26.6 milliaas primarily du
to our increased profitability rather than tradiagels, as net income increased by $19.4 milliomf$48.9 million to
$68.3 million. In addition, in 2012 we benefitedrft more stable working capital levels compareddb12 In 2011 our
working capital requirements increased by $43.3anilin order to support the substantially increhsading levels
when net sales increased by 13.3%, or $91.2 mijlfrom $683.2 million to $774.4 million. In 2012treales increased
by 0.3%, or $2.0 million, from $774.4 million to $3.4 million. The decrease in cash provided by afiegy activities
from 2010 to 2011 of $23.5 million was primarilyedto the $25.0 million paid in cash in Septembe&rl2id settlement
of the NewMarket Corporation civil complaint.

Cash

At December 31, 2012 and 2011 we had cash andecpstalents of $22.4 million and $76.2 million, pestively, of
which $17.5 million and $74.1 million, respectivelyere held by non-U.S. subsidiaries principallytia United
Kingdom. The Company is in a position to controletiter or not to repatriate foreign earnings anehnids to reinvest
earnings to fund overseas subsidiaries. We cuyrdothot expect to make a further repatriatiorhm foreseeable futu
and hence have not provided for future income taxethe cash held by overseas subsidiaries. Ificistances were to
change that would cause these earnings to be ispdtan additional U.S. tax liability could beumeed, and we
continue to monitor this position.

Short-term Investments
At December 31, 2012 and 2011 we had short-termsimvents of $5.1 million and $4.8 million, respesy.
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Debt

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@awlving credit facility which provides for borromgs by us of up
to $100.0 million. The credit facility carries amerest rate based on U.S. LIBOR plus a margirebkeen 1.50% and
2.25% which is dependent on the Company’s ratioedfdebt to EBITDA. EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of
liquidity defined in the credit facility. The credacility can be drawn down until it expires ond@enber 14, 2016 and
may be drawn down in full in the U.S..

The current credit facility contains restrictionkieh may limit our activities, and operational dmncial flexibility.
We may not be able to borrow if an event of defeutiutstanding, which includes a material advetsage to our
assets, operations or financial condition. The itfadility contains a number of restrictions thatit our ability, amonc
other things, and subject to certain limited exio#s, to incur additional indebtedness, pledgeassets as security,
guarantee obligations of third parties, make inwesits, effect a merger or consolidation, disposesséts, or materia
change our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility contains terms wfhj if breached, would result in it becoming regagan demand. It
requires, among other matters, compliance witifdhewing financial covenant ratios measured oruartgrly basis:
(1) our ratio of net debt to EBITDA must not beafer than 2.5:1 and (2) our ratio of EBITDA to mgtrest must not
be less than 4.0:1. Management has determinethihn&ompany has not breached these covenants ttwoutpe
period to December 31, 2012 and expects to nothréeese covenants for the next 12 months. Thetdesdity is
secured by a number of fixed and floating charges oertain assets which include key operating sitdhe Company
and its subsidiaries.

As at December 31, 2012, we had $20.0 million &t @eitstanding under the revolving credit facility.

Under the terms of our September 13, 2011 settlemigm NewMarket Corporation, we issued a $15.0ionl
promissory note to NewMarket Corporation payablthnee equal annual installments (carrying simplerest at
1% per annum). The first installment was paid opt&aber 7, 2012.

The debt maturity profile as at December 31, 281t out below:

(in millions)
2013 $ 5.C
2014 5.C
2015 0.C
2016 20.C
30.C
Current portion of lon-term debi (5.0
Long-term debt, net of current portic $25.(
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Outlook

At December 31, 2012, the Company had cash, cashadents and shoterm investments of $27.5 million and deb
$30.0 million resulting in net debt of $2.5 million

The Company expects to fund its operations ovezast the next 12 months from a combination of afpeg cash flow
and its revolving credit facility. Under the crefiitility we have the ability to draw down up toC&10 million, of whict
$20.0 million was drawn down at December 31, 2@8b2png as we are in compliance with all financialenants
therein.

Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitmentSetember 31, 2012 and the effect of those obbigaton future
cash flows:

(in millions) Total 2013 2014-15 201¢-17 Thereafter
Operating activitie:

OFFP/FCPA paymen $ 3.7 $ 3.7 $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C
Compliance monito 1.2 1.2 0.C 0.C 0.C
Planned funding of pension obligatic 58.¢ 11.2 22.4 14.£ 10.€
Remediation paymen 29.c 5.C 5.t 2.7 16.1
Severance paymer 11 0.1 1.C 0.C 0.C
Operating lease commitmer 7.5 2.1 2.€ 1.¢ 0.€
Raw material purchase obligatic 18.1 6.C 6.C 6.1 0.C
Interest payments on de 2.5 0.€ 1.2 0.7 0.C
Investing activities

Capital commitment 2.7 2.7 0.C 0.C 0.C
Financing activitie:

Long-term debt obligation 30.C 5.C 5.C 20.C 0.C
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati 5.C 0.C 5.C 0.C 0.C
Total $159.¢ $37.7 $ 48.7 $ 45.¢ $ 27¢€

Operating activities

Following the previously-disclosed resolution oftaeén government investigations and other matferther details of
which are given in Note 17 of the Notes to the @tdated Financial Statements, the Company is cdtachto paying
associated fines, penalties and disgorgementsaoperiod of four years commencing 2010; and theréutompliance
monitor expenses until December 31, 2013.

The amounts related to pension obligations refénedikely levels of funding of our United Kingdodefined benefit
pension plan (the “Plan”). The Plan is closed torfe service accrual, but has a large number afroed and current
pensioners. The Company expects its
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annual cash contribution to be $11.2 million in 245, $7.2 million in 2016-17 and $5.3 million i68-19. It is not
considered meaningful to predict amounts beyon® 2irice there are too many uncertainties incluélihgye returns
on assets, pension increases and inflation.

Remediation payments represent those cash flowshild&Z ompany is currently obligated to pay in sxtpf
environmental remediation of current and formeilitges. It does not include any discretionary refiagion costs that
the Company may choose to incur.

Severance payments represent those cash flonthéh@ompany is currently obligated to pay in respéseverance
costs associated with exit or disposal activitied post-employment benefits.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily tacefSpace, motor vehicles and various items of agerg@nd office
equipment which are expected to be renewed andaegblin the normal course of business.

Raw material purchase obligations relate to cettmg-term raw material contracts which stipulaxed or minimum
guantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or J@daaost provisions; and the approximate timingheftransaction.
Purchase obligations exclude agreements that acelzdole without penalty.

The estimated payments included in the table abeilect the variable interest charge on long-teghtabligations.
Estimated commitment fees are also included amalast income is excluded.

Due to the uncertainty regarding the nature ofatadtits, particularly those which are not currenihgerway, it is not
meaningful to predict the outcome of obligationated to unrecognized tax benefits. Further disol®ss provided in
Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarsiatements

Investing activities

Capital commitments relate to certain capital ptgehat the Company has committed to undertake.

Financing activities

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@aslving credit facility which provides for borromgs of up to
$100.0 million. The credit facility can be drawrvdountil it expires on December 14, 2016. At Decentii, 2012,
$20.0 million was drawn under the revolving crédddility.

On September 13, 2011, the Company settled the Nele¥l Corporation civil complaint. The settlemegteement
included the Company issuing a $15.0 million praoig note to NewMarket Corporation payable in thegeal annue
installments (carrying simple interest at 1% perwan), the first installment of which was paid orpt&enber 7, 2012.
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On December 24, 2012, the Company acquired 100%eofoting equity interests in Strata Control Sesi Inc.
(“Strata”), a private company based in Crowley, is@na, for a consideration of approximately $a@ibion. Of this
consideration, $5.0 million is payable in cash@12 contingent upon the achievement of certaindetermined
financial targets which we currently expect to bbeiaved. For accounting purposes only, we are requinder GAAP,
in accordance with our accounting policy, to disdahis acquisitiorrelated contingent consideration to its fair vadd
$4.3 million.

Environmental Matters and Plant Closures

Under certain environmental laws the Company ipaasible for the remediation of hazardous substaocevastes at
currently or formerly owned or operated properties.

As most of our manufacturing operations have beenlgcted outside the U.S., we expect that liabflgytaining to the
investigation and remediation of contaminated priogeis likely to be determined under non-U.S..law

We evaluate costs for remediation, decontaminatr@hdemolition projects on a regular basis. Fudlmion is made
for those costs to which we are committed undeirenmental laws. Full provision has been made lieracommitted
costs of $29.3 million at December 31, 2012. Exjitengl against provisions was $2.1 million, $3.1limil and $2.7
million in the years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respebtiv

Total severance expenditure was $0.6 million, $illilon and $0.4 million in the years 2012, 2010&910,
respectively.
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company uses floating rate debt to financgldbal operations. The Company is subject to bgsimsks inherent
in non-U.S. activities, including political and emnic uncertainty, import and export limitationedamarket risk
related to changes in interest rates and foreigreoay exchange rates. The political and econoisiks rare mitigated
by the stability of the countries in which the Canp’s largest operations are located. Credit linutgjoing credit
evaluation and account monitoring procedures agd ts minimize bad debt risk. Collateral is not graly required.

The Company uses derivatives, including interdst savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydoivexchange
contracts, in the normal course of business to g@naarket risks. The derivatives used in hedgitigides are
considered risk management tools and are not usdthfling purposes. In addition, the Company eritéo derivative
instruments with a diversified group of major fical institutions in order to manage the exposaredn-performance
of such instruments. The Company’s objective in agamg the exposure to changes in interest ratesliisit the
impact of such changes on earnings and cash flad/$calower overall borrowing costs. The Comparofigective in
managing the exposure to changes in foreign cuyrerchange rates is to reduce volatility on earniaugd cash flows
associated with such changes.

The Company offers fixed prices for some long-teates contracts. As manufacturing and raw mateosils are
subject to variability the Company uses commodigss to hedge the cost of some raw materials #uiscing
volatility on earnings and cash flows. The derivesi are considered risk management tools and aresad for trading
purposes. The Company’s objective is to managexpesure to fluctuating costs of raw materials.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manageshtate exposure. As at December 31, 2012 thgp@oyrhad
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investmé®705 million, no bank overdraft and long-ternbtef

$30.0 million (including current portion). Long-terdebt comprises a revolving credit facility whigtovides for
borrowings by us of up to $100.0 million and a $l@illion promissory note to NewMarket Corporatidine credit
facility carries an interest rate based on U.S.QBplus a margin of between 1.50% and 2.25% wtsadependent on
the Company’s ratio of net debt to EBITDA. EBITD#&a non-GAAP measure of liquidity defined in thedst facility.
The promissory note carries simple interest at #apnum. At December 31, 2012, $20.0 million wiaswh under th
revolving credit facility. As management does nqiext the credit facility to be drawn down in tib@d-term, the
Company has not entered into interest rate swageaggnts in relation to this.

On the basis that interest on $10.0 million of $88.0 million long-term debt (including current pon) is fixed and
that the Company would receive interest on theS&illion positive cash balances and short-ternegtments, then
the interest payable on variable debt (excludimgntfargin) is more than offset by the interest red@e on positive
cash balances
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and short-term investments. On a gross basis, asguma additional interest on the cash balancesshnd-term
investments, a hypothetical absolute change ofrltA$. base interest rates on the variable de®2@0 million for a
one-year period would impact net income and cashsflby approximately $0.2 million before tax. Onet basis,
assuming additional interest on the cash balanugslaort-term investments, a hypothetical absalbtage of 1% in
U.S. base interest rates for a one-year perioddvioybact net income and cash flows by approximekelt million
before tax.

The above does not consider the effect of inteneskchange rate changes on overall activity naragament action to
mitigate such changes.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates an element of its revenuemams some operating costs in currencies ottaar the U.S.
dollar. The reporting currency of the Company e thS. dollar.

The Company evaluates the functional currency ofi @aporting unit according to the economic envinent in which
it operates. Several major subsidiaries of the Gomperating outside of the U.S. have the U.Sadak their
functional currency due to the nature of the markewhich they operate. In addition, the finangiasition and results
of operations of some of our overseas subsidianeseported in the relevant local currency and trenslated to U.S.
dollars at the applicable currency exchange ratenfdusion in our consolidated financial statensent

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehaxge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonléuro,
British pound sterling and Swiss franc. Changesxithange rates between these foreign currenciethand.S. dollar
will affect the recorded levels of our assets aallilities, to the extent that such figures reflédet inclusion of foreign
assets and liabilities which are translated int8.\dollars for presentation in our consolidatedficial statements, as
well as our results of operations.

The Company’s objective in managing the exposufertign currency fluctuations is to reduce earsiagd cash flow
volatility associated with foreign currency exchamgte changes. Accordingly, the Company enteosviatious
contracts that change in value as foreign currexchange rates change to protect the U.S. dollaed its existing
foreign currency denominated assets, liabilitiesnmitments, and cash flows. The Company also usegyh currency
forward exchange contracts to offset a portiorhef€Company’s exposure to certain foreign curreraydinated
revenues so that gains and losses on these centfésdt changes in the U.S. dollar value of thatee foreign currenc
denominated revenues. The objective of the hedgiogram is to reduce earnings and cash flow vaiatitlated to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The trading of our Fuel Specialties and Performa@lzemicals reporting segments is inherently ndiureddged and
accordingly changes in exchange rates would natdgerial to our earnings or financial position. Tost base of our
Octane Additives reporting segment
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and corporate costs, however, are largely denoednatBritish pound sterling. A 5% strengtheninghe U.S. dollar
against British pound sterling would increase régggboperating income by approximately $2.9 millfona one-year
period excluding the impact of any foreign currefmyvard exchange contracts.

Where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has lbsed as an illustration, a 5% weakening wouldxpected to ha
the opposite effect on operating income.

Raw Material Cost Risk

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amaiggnin our manufacturing and blending processesWbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@sed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant cost instability. These fluctuationsciost can be caused by political instability inpmbducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global symd demand of these materials, over which wes mavor little
control. We use long-term contracts (generally \iited or formula-based costs) and advance bulkhmases to help
ensure availability and continuity of supply, anditanage the risk of cost increases. We have ehiteiehedging
arrangements for certain raw materials, but daymtally enter into hedging arrangements for al materials,
chemicals or energy costs. Should the costs ofmaterials, chemicals or energy increase, and shveeldot be able to
pass on these cost increases to our customersppleeating margins and cash flows from operatiniyities would be
adversely impacted. Should raw material costs asgesignificantly, then the Compasyieed for working capital cot
similarly increase. Any of these risks could adebrsmpact our results of operations, financialipos and cash flows.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Innospec Inc. and its subsidiariesm@$pec”) as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdiasedi statements of income, comprehensive incohe an
accumulated other comprehensive loss, cash floast@mekholders’ equity for each of the years thedeel. We also
have audited Innospec’s internal control over feiahreporting as of December 31, 2012, based iberier established
in Internal Control — Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (COSO). Innospsananagement is responsible for these consolidiai@acial statements, for maintain
effective internal control over financial reportjrapnd for its assessment of the effectivenesstefnal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanyifdghagement’s Report on Internal Control Over FimariReporting”
appearing in item 9A of the Form 10-K. Our respbitisy is to express an opinion on these consoéiddinancial
statements and an opinion on Innospec’s internagbover financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaflqUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan arfidrpn the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmet alhether the
financial statements are free of material misstatgrand whether effective internal control oveafinial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditthefconsolidated financial statements included éxaug, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dig@ssn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles
used and significant estimates made by managemmahigvaluating the overall financial statement gméstion. Our
audit of internal control over financial reportingluded obtaining an understanding of internalta@rover financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weskexists, and testing and evaluating the desidoperating
effectiveness of internal control based on thesssskrisk. Our audits also included performing satbler procedures
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weydd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsois accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A comfsmmgernal control over financial reporting inckglthose policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenahoecords that, in reasonable detail, accuratedyfairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets afdhgany; (2) provide reasonable assurance thadcéions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation aféiahstatements in accordance with generally aede@ccounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures@tbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of
management and directors of the company; and ®jge reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, orakgjon of the companyg’assets that could have a material effect o
financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesiés future periods are subject to the risk thatrads may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, ptitbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all matleespects, the
financial position of Innospec as of December 3 2and 2011, and the results of its operationstarghsh flows for
the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. geltraccepted accounting principles. Also in oumnam, Innospec
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2012, based
criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatod
the Treadway Commission.

Innospec acquired Strata Control Services, Indrt8”) on December 24, 2012, and management exdltrdam its
assessment of the effectiveness of Innospec’shateontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®gy 2012, Strata’s
internal control over financial reporting assoaibigth total assets of $59.4 million included i ttonsolidated
financial statements of Innospec as of and forytbe ended December 31, 2012. Our audit of intexoiatrol over
financial reporting of Innospec also excluded aal@ation of the internal control over financial ogfing of Strata.

/s/ KPMG Audit Plc
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 13, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated stat&s of income, stockholders’ equity, comprehensicome and
accumulated other comprehensive loss, and casls flavthe period ended December 31, 2010 presely fia all
material respects, the results of Innospec Inc.i@rglbsidiaries operations and their cash flawshe period ended
December 31, 2010, in conformity with accountinppgiples generally accepted in the United Statesmérica. These
financial statements are the responsibility of@mnpany’s management. Our responsibility is to egpian opinion on
these financial statements based on our auditcdi@ucted our audits of these statements in aceoedaith the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdgglard (United States). Those standards requatevik plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoet athether the financial statements are free déns
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the
financial statements, assessing the accountingiplas used and significant estimates made by neanagt, and
evaluating the overall financial statement prederaWe believe that our audit provides a reastmbasis for our
opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 18, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in_millions, except share and per share data

Net sales
Cost of goods sol
Gross profi

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati
Research and developme
Restructuring charg

Impairment of Octane Additives segment good

Profit on disposal, ne
Total operating expens
Operating incom
Other net income/(expens
Interest expens
Interest incom

Income before income tax
Income taxe:

Net income

Earnings per shar
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousa
Basic

Diluted

Dividend declared per common sh.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.
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Years ended December 3

2012

$ 776.
(540.0)
236.4

(117.9)
(19.6)
(0.2)
(1.2)
0.1
(138.0)
98.
(2.0)
(1.8)
0.€
95.
26.9)
68.¢

25

2011
$ 774.4
(548.0)
226.

12
o
o
m

2010

&+
o
o
')
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in_millions )

Total comprehensive income for the years ended Denber 31

Net income

Changes in cumulative translation adjustn

Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivaisteuments, net of tax «
$0.0 million, $0.3 million and $0.0 million, respaely

Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of tax$(d.3) million, $(0.1,
million and $(1.4) million, respective

Gain on pension plan amendment, net of tax of §0lGn, $0.0 million
and $(4.8) million, respective

Deferred taxes (2), (¢

Amortization of prior service credit, net of tax$®@.3 million, $0.4 millior
and $0.3 million, respective

Actuarial net (losses)/gains arising during therynat of tax of $17.:
million, $(6.6) million and $(26.6) million, respiacely

Total comprehensive incon

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in_millions )

Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the yeaended
December 31

Cumulative translation adjustme

Unrealized gains on derivative instruments, naagfof $0.0 million, $0.(
million and $(0.3) million, respective

Unrecognized actuarial net losses, net of tax 8t&#nillion, $26.0 million
and $34.9 million, respective

Accumulated other comprehensive |

(1) Impact on deferred taxes during the year edzember 31, 2010 of a change in the associate@dteon the unrecognized actuarial nef

2012 2011 2010
$ 682 $ 48¢ § 737
7.2 (3.9 (15.6)
(0.) (0.7) 0.C
1. 0.2 3.8
0.C 0.C 12.2
0.C (2.6) (2.9
(1.0) (0.9) (0.6)
(58.5) 19.F 71.¢
$ 165 $ 60F  $143.
2012 2011 2010
$ (349 $ @21 $ (382
0.1 0.2 0.
(136.6) (78.1) (94.9)
$(171.9) $(120.0  $(131.6)

losses of $164.6 million (net of deferred taxe$@&4.1 million) previously recognized in other comlpensive loss

(2) Impact on deferred taxes during the year edzbmber 31, 2011 of a change in the associate@dteon the unrecognized actuarial nef

losses of $94.8 million (net of deferred taxes 85.% million) previously recognized in other contpeasive loss

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in_millions, except share and per share data

Assets

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment

Trade and other accounts receivable (less alloveaoic$1.9 and $2.0, respective
Inventories (less allowances of $8.9 and $6.6,aetbgely):

Finished good
Work in progres:
Raw material
Total inventories
Current portion of deferred tax ass
Prepaid expenst
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill
Other intangible asse
Deferred finance cos
Deferred tax assets, net of current por
Pension asst
Other noi-current asset

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Current portion of accrued liabilitie
Accrued income taxe
Current portion of lon-term debt
Current portion of plant closure provisic
Current portion of unrecognized tax bene
Current portion of deferred tax liabiliti
Current portion of deferred incon
Total current liabilities
Accrued liabilities, net of current portic
Long-term debt, net of current portic
Plant closure provisions, net of current por
Unrecognized tax benefits, net of current por
Deferred tax liabilities, net of current porti
Pension liabilities
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati
Other nor-current liabilities
Deferred income, net of current porti
Commitments and contingenci

Stockholder’ Equity

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 40,0@0sb@res, issued 29,554,500 shi

Additional paic-in capital

Treasury stock (6,222,076 and 6,507,081 sharessatrespectively

Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive |

Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtedements.

At December 31

2012

$ 22/
5.1
115.5

2011

$ 76.2
4.€
99.4

81.c
14
53.2

135.¢
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in_millions )
Years ended December 3
2012 2011 2010
Cash Flows from Operating Activiti¢
Net income $ 68.: $ 48¢ $ 737
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigen by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 11t 14.4 15.¢
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good 1.2 2.C 2.2
Deferred taxe 12.¢ (4.0 (14.9
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipmest (0.2) 0.C (0.2)
(Repayment)/issue of promissory note in civil coamu settlemen (5.0 15.C 0.C
Non-cash issue of treasury stock in civil complaintlegtent 0.C 5.C 0.C
Changes in working capite
Trade and other accounts receive (24.7 (15.9) 4.8
Inventories (2.0 (14.9) (2.3
Prepaid expenst 0.1 0.C (0.2
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (5.5 (13.9) (11.5
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraages (2.2 (1.2 0.C
Accrued income taxe 1.C (4.2) (0.2)
Movement on plant closure provisia 1.8 1.1 (0.9
Cash contributions to defined benefit pension p (9.9 (9.5 (15.6)
Non-cash expense of defined benefit pension 0.1 1.C 19.C
Stock option compensatic 3.1 3.1 0.8
Movements on unrecognized tax bene 0.2 4.C (10.¢)
Movements on other n-current assets and liabiliti K 2.2 (1.9
Net cash provided by operating activit 61.2 34.7 58.2
Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Capital expenditure (8.9 (7.0 (8.9
Business combinations, net of cash acqt (53.]) 0.C 0.C
Internally developed software and other ct (8.5 (3.2 0.C
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equip 0.2 0.C 0.2
Purchase of shc-term investment (5.0 (5.0 (7.5
Sale of sho-term investment 4.€ 4.4 3
Net cash (used in) investing activiti (70.9) (10.9) (12.9)
Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Net receipt/(repayment) of revolving credit fagil 0.C 13.C 6.C
Repayment of term log 0.C (40.0 (20.0
Refinancing cost 0.C (1.7 0.C
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraages 2.2 11 0.C
Dividend paid (46.7) 0.C 0.C
Issue of treasury stoc 1.2 0.7 0.2
Repurchase of common sta (1.9 (28.0) (2.7
Net cash (used in) financing activiti (44.9) (55.0 (6.5)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changesas 0.7) 0.1 0.9
Net change in cash and cash equival (53.9) (30.9 38.t
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 76.2 107.1 68.€
Cash and cash equivalents at end of - $ 22/ $ 76 $ 107.]

Amortization of deferred finance costs of $0.4 iaill (2011 — $0.5 million, 2010 — $1.4 million) fthre year are included in depreciation and
amortization in the cash flow statement but inrie$¢ expense in the income statement. Cash payfrezeipts in respect of income taxes and
interest are disclosed in Note 10 and Note 11 ecspely.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtedements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in_millions )
Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Treasury Retained Comprehensive Stockholders
Paid-In
Stock Capital Stock Earnings Loss Equity

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 03 $ 285¢& $ (642 $ 1368 $ (201.) % 157.¢
Net income 73.7 73
Changes in cumulative translation

adjustmen (15.6) (15.¢)
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on

derivative instruments, net of ti 0.C 0.C
Treasury stock rissuec 2.1 2.1
Treasury stock repurchas (2.7) (2.7)
Stock option compensatic 0.t 0.t
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of

tax 3.8 3.8
Gain on pension plan amendment, net @

tax 12.2 12.2
Deferred taxe(® (2.3 (2.3
Amortization of prior service credit, net ¢

tax (0.6 (0.6
Actuarial net gains arising during the year,

net of tax 71.€ 71.¢
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 03 $ 286. $ (64 $ 210t $ (1316 $ 300.7
Net income 48.¢ 48.¢
Changes in cumulative translation

adjustmen 3.9 (3.9
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on

derivative instruments, net of ti (0.7) (0.7)
Treasury stock rissuec 0.¢ 4.8 5.7
Treasury stock repurchas (28.7) (28.7)
Stock option compensatic 4.3 &
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net of

tax 0.2 0.z
Deferred taxe® (2.6) (2.6)
Amortization of prior service credit, net of

tax (0.9 0.9
Actuarial net gains arising during the yei

net of tax 19.5 19.t
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 0.3 $ 291t $ (881 $ 259« $ (120.0 $ 343.1
Net income 68.3 68.2
Dividend paid ($2.00 per shat (46.7) (46.7)
Changes in cumulative translation

adjustmen 7.2 7.2
Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on

derivative instruments, net of ti (0.7) (0.2
Treasury stock rissuec (3.5 4.t 1.C
Treasury stock repurchas (1.9 (1.9
Stock option compensatic 2.1 2.1
Fair value of Strata acquisition-related

contingently issuable shar 2.C 2.C
Amortization of actuarial net losses, net

tax 1.C 1.C
Amortization of prior service credit, net of

tax (1.0 (1.0
Actuarial net losses arising during the ye

net of tax (58.5) (58.5)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 03 $ 2921 $ (8500 $ 281( $ (1719  $ 317.(

(1) Impact on deferred taxes of a change in thecés®d tax rate on the unrecognized actuarialasses of $164.6 million (net of deferred



taxes of $64.1 million) previously recognized i@t comprehensive los

(2) Impact on deferred taxes of a change in thecisted tax rate on the unrecognized actuarialosses of $94.8 million (net of deferred
taxes of $35.1 million) previously recognized i@t comprehensive los

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtegements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of Operations

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends, markdtsugplies fuel additives, personal care and fragggroducts and
other specialty chemicals. Our products are saldaoly to oil refineries, personal care and fragra companies, and
other chemical and industrial companies throughioeitvorld. Our fuel additives help improve fuelie#ncy, boost
engine performance and reduce harmful emissionso®er specialty chemicals provide effective teitbgy-based
solutions for our customers’ processes or prodiacissed in the Personal Care; Polymers; and Fragringredients
markets. Principal product lines and reportablerssags are Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemiodi©atane
Additives.

See Note 3 for financial information on the Compamgportable segments.

Following a review of internally developed softwaed other costs capitalized in 2011, a reclasditio of $1.6
million has been made in the fourth quarter of 20ddn internally developed software and other séstproperty,
plant and equipment, for costs related to the agreknt of new information technology infrastructu?eior year
comparatives have not been conformed to currentglassifications.

Note 2. Accounting Policies

Basis of preparationThe consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am&and include all subsidiaries of the Company wliee Company
has a controlling financial interest. All signifitaintercompany accounts and balances have baamated upon
consolidation. All acquisitions are accounted feparchases and the results of operations of tipgirac businesses ¢
included in the consolidated financial statemeramfthe date of acquisition.

Use of estimatesthe preparation of the consolidated financial statets, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Amm@rrequires management to make estimates and jpissnsithat
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateahitial statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ
from those estimates.

Cash equivalentdnvestment securities with maturities of three rherr less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Short-term investmentivestment securities with maturities of more tBamonths and less than 12 months when
purchased are considered to be short-term investmen

Trade and other accounts receivabldie Company records trade and other accounts edaleiat net realizable value
and maintains allowances for customers not maleqgired payments. The Company determines the adggfia
allowances by periodically evaluating each custoraeeeivable considering our customer’s financialditon, credit
history and current economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Inventories:inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIF@hwod) or market value. Cost includes materiatsyianc
an appropriate proportion of plant overheads. The@any accrues volume discounts where it is prebtdait the
required volume will be attained and the amountlmaneasonably estimated. The discounts are red¢@sla reduction
in the cost of materials based on projected pueshaser the period of the agreement. Inventoriesdjusted for
estimated obsolescence and written down to magdaewbased on estimates of future demand and mawvkditions.

Property, plant and equipmerProperty, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated udefas of the assets using the straight-line methudl is allocated
between cost of goods sold and operating expelmbescost of additions and improvements are capédli
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expensesn Afsets are sold or retired the associated mostc@umulated
depreciation are removed from the consolidatechtired statements and any related gain or losladed in earnings.
The estimated useful lives of the major classedepfeciable assets are as follows:

Buildings 7 to 25 yeat
Equipment 3 to 10 yeat

Goodwill and other intangible assetSoodwill and other intangible assets deemed to iradefinite lives are not
amortized but are subject to at least annual impext tests based on projected post-tax cash flisgsuhted at the
Company’s weighted average cost of capital. Thelahmeasurement date for impairment testing oftiadwill
relating to the Fuel Specialties and Performancen@itals segments is December 31. At this date werpeed annual
impairment tests and concluded that there had be@émpairment of goodwill in respect of those rdpmy segments.
Octane Additives segment goodwill is tested foramment at the end of each quarter. As expecteddbkne in the
Octane Additives market has resulted in quartengdirment charges being incurred from the firstrogpraof 2004
onwards. It is highly likely that further quartedirarges will be incurred in future years as theketacontinues to
decline. The Company capitalizes software developroests, including licenses, subsequent to thebbshment of
technological feasibility. Other intangible ass##gemed to have finite lives, including softwareelepment costs and
licenses, are amortized using the straight-linenoebver their estimated useful lives and testechy potential
impairment when events occur or circumstances ahargch suggest that an impairment may have ocgurre

Deferred finance costThe costs relating to debt financing are capitdlizeparately disclosed in the consolidated
balance sheets and amortized using the effectteecist method over the expected life of the detatricing facility.

Impairment of lon-lived assetsThe Company reviews the carrying value of its Itimgd assets, including buildings
and equipment, whenever changes in circumstangggstuthat the carrying values may be impairedrder to
facilitate this test the Company groups
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

together assets at the lowest possible level fachwtash flow information is available. Undiscouhfature cash flows
expected to result from the assets are comparédthatcarrying value of the assets and if they@mer an impairment
loss may be recognized. The amount of the impaittass is the difference between the fair value thiedcarrying
value of the assets. Fair values are determinew) ymist-tax cash flows discounted at the Compangighted average
cost of capital.

Derivative instrumentsThe Company uses various derivative instrumentsidiireg forward currency contracts, optic
interest rate swaps and commodity swaps to marextgc exposures. These instruments are enteredimter the
Company’s corporate risk management policy to miménexposure and are not for speculative tradinggaes. The
Company recognizes all derivatives as either naneatiassets or liabilities in the consolidatedabak sheet and
measures those instruments at fair value. Changée ifair value of derivatives that are not deatgd as hedges, or do
not meet the requirements for hedge accounting:eamagnized in earnings. Derivatives which areglesied as hedges
are tested for effectiveness on a quarterly basid,marked to market. The ineffective portion & tierivatives chang:
in value is recognized in earnings. The effectigdipn is recognized in other comprehensive incomid the hedged
item is recognized in earnings.

Environmental compliance and remediatiEnvironmental compliance costs include ongoing teaiance, monitoring
and similar costs. We recognize environmental liizds when they are probable and costs can benaddy estimated,
and asset retirement obligations when there igal lgbligation and costs can be reasonably estin&ech accruals a
adjusted as further information develops or circiamses change. Costs of future obligations areodrged to their
present values using the Company’s credit-adjuss&efree rate.

Acquisitior-related contingent and deferred consideratiD@ferred consideration payable in cash is discalituats
fair value. Where deferred consideration is corgirigipon predetermined financial targets, an estimate of tivevidue
of the likely consideration payable is made. Thustsgent deferred consideration is re-assessedbdigrand a
corresponding adjustment is recognized in operatiogme, and the associated liability, to refléet passage of time
accretion expense and any revisions to the amauirhimg of the initial measurement.

Revenue recognitiorThe Company supplies products to customers frowaii®us manufacturing sites, and in some
instances from containers held on customer site$gua variety of standard shipping terms and ¢mmdi. In each cas
revenue is recognized when legal title, which isndel and generally accepted in the standard tamdsconditions, an
risk of loss transfers between the Company and@uktomer. Provisions for sales discounts and reltateustomers a
based upon the terms of sales contracts and ayadegtin the same period as the related salesleduction from
revenue. The Company estimates the provision fesshscounts and rebates based on the terms lolag@aeement at
the time of shipping.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Components of net salestl amounts billed to customers relating to shigpand handling are classified as net
sales. Shipping and handling costs incurred byCiipany are classified as cost of goods sold.

Components of cost of goods sdlnist of goods sold is comprised of raw materiatcogluding inbound freight, duty
and non-recoverable taxes, inbound handling casisceéated with the receipt of raw materials, patig@qaterials,
manufacturing costs including labor costs, maimeeraand utility costs, plant and engineering ovadiseamortization
expense for certain other intangible assets, waighg and outbound shipping costs and handlingsctistentory
losses and provisions and the costs of customienglare also recognized in the cost of goods tiera.i

Components of selling, general and administratieemsesSelling expenses comprise the costs of the disdetss
force, and the sales management and customer selpartments required to support them. It alsgocises
commission charges, the costs of sales conferemmkade shows, the cost of advertising and priomst
amortization expense for certain other intangilsisets, and the cost of bad and doubtful debts. r@lesred
administrative expenses comprise the cost of safyoctions including accounting, human resouragsymation
technology and the cost of group functions inclgdinrporate management, finance, tax, treasurgstov relations
and legal departments. Provision of managemenssdsimate of legal and settlement costs forditan in which the
Company is involved is made and reported in theiadinative expense line item.

Research and development expenResearch, development and testing costs are expentige income statement as
incurred.

Earnings per shareBasic earnings per share is based on the weightgdge number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share idetuthe effect of options that are dilutive andstautding during the
period.

Foreign currenciesThe Company’s policy is that exchange differencesrg on the translation of the balance sheets
of entities that have functional currencies otlhantthe U.S. dollar are taken to a separate etgsgrve, the cumulati
translation adjustment. In entities where the d@lar is the functional currency no gains or I@sse translation occt
and gains or losses on monetary assets relatiogrtencies other than the U.S. dollar are takeh@éancome statemel
Gains or losses on foreign currency translatiorsrariuded in other net income/(expense) in thenme statement.

Share based compensation plafike Company accounts for employee stock optionguting fair value method.
Accordingly, share based compensation is meastitheé grant date based on the fair value of theopt The
Company uses the straight-line attribution metlmietognize share based compensation costs ovsetbiee period
of the option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Pension plans and other p-employment benefit$he Company recognizes the funded status of debeeéfit post-
retirement plans on the consolidated balance sheetgshanges in the funded status in comprehemsioene. The
measurement date of the plan’s funded status isaime as the Company’s fiscal year-end.

Income taxesThe Company provides for income taxes by recoggidieferred tax assets and liabilities for the etqut
future tax consequences of temporary differencésdsn the financial statement carrying amountsthadelevant tax
bases of the assets and liabilities. When apprigptiae Company evaluates the need for a valuatiowance to reduc
deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes ftaxrgenefits to the extent that realization of sbehefits is more
likely than not. The effect on deferred taxes change in tax rates is recognized in the periotlititdudes the
enactment date. Income tax positions must meetra fikely than not recognition criteria to be renagd. The
Company recognizes accrued interest and penaisexi@ted with uncertain tax positions as parhobdime taxes in our
consolidated statements of income.

Note 3. Segmental Reporting and Geographical AeeData

Innospec divides its business into three segmentsdnagement and reporting purposes: Fuel SpesiaRerformanc
Chemicals and Octane Additives. On September 2I2,20e Company announced its Active Chemicals segmoulc
be renamed Performance Chemicals, effective Octbhigd12, to make the purpose of its products eftearthe
customers it serves. The Fuel Specialties and Peaftce Chemicals segments operate in markets wieeeetively
seek growth opportunities although their ultimaistomers are different. The Octane Additives segmsegenerally
characterized by volatile and declining demand.

In 2012, the Company had a significant customénénFuel Specialties segment, Royal Dutch Shelapttits affiliate
(“Shell”), which accounted for $82.9 million (11%} our net group sales. In 2011 and 2010, Shebauted for $78.7
million (10%) and $67.8 million (10%) of our netogip sales, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

The Company evaluates the performance of its sefgnbased on operating income. The following tablelyzes sales
and other financial information by the Company’sagable segments:

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net sales:

Fuel Specialtie $527.2 $521.2 $458.1
Performance Chemica 179.¢ 177.( 152.%
Octane Additive: 69.€ 76.2 72.4

$776.4 $774. $683.2

Gross profit:

Fuel Specialtie $158.7  $149.:  $145.¢
Performance Chemica 43.¢ 40.¢ 33.<
Octane Additives 33.¢€ 36.E 34.¢

$236.< $226.¢ $214.]

Operating income:

Fuel Specialtie $ 87.€ $ 81.7 $ 77.€
Performance Chemica 24.% 22.¢ 16.7
Octane Additive: 26.C (22.9) 25.¢
Pension credit/(charg: 0.2 (0.5) (10.§)
Corporate cost (38.5) (29.2) (26.%)
Restructuring charg (0.2) (0.6 (8.7
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good (1.2) (2.0 (2.2
Profit on disposal, ne 0.1 0.C 0.1
Total operating incom $98.4 $49.€ $ 722
Identifiable assets at year end

Fuel Specialtie $356.¢ $281.t $260.¢
Performance Chemica 113.4 106.% 104.¢
Octane Additive: 48.€ 51.t 65.€
Corporate 60.5 129.] 118.:

$579.4 $568.¢ $549.4

The pension charge relates to the United Kingdofimel@ benefit pension plan which is closed to fatservice accrue
The charges related to our other much smaller paresirangements in the U.S. and overseas are gttindhe
segment and income statement captions consisténtive related employees’ costs.

The Company includes within the corporate costs iiem the costs of:
* managing the Group as a company with securitieedlisn the NASDAQ and registered with the S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

» the President/CE’s office, group finance, group human resourceymtegal and compliance counsel, i

investor relations

* running the corporate offices in the U.S. and Ear
» the corporate development function since they daelate to the current trading activities of otiner

reporting segments; al

» the corporate share of the information technoleggounting and human resources departm

Sales by geographical area are reported by sowmtoer¢ the transactions originate) and by destingtihere the final
sales to customers are made). Intercompany sagwiaed to recover cost plus an appropriate marteuprofit and

are eliminated in the consolidated financial staets.

Identifiable assets are those directly associatddtive operations of the geographical area.

Goodwill has not been allocated by geographicatioo on the grounds that it would be impracticabldo so.

(in millions)

Net sales by source
United State:
United Kingdom
Rest of Europt
Other

Sales between are

Net sales by destination
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europt

Other

Income before income taxes
United State:

United Kingdom

Rest of Europt

Other

Impairment of Octane Additives segment good
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2012 2011
$274.1  $265.
475.1 482.¢
142. 151.7
0.5 0.¢
(116.7) (126.6)
$776..  $774.
$272..  $248.:
38.¢ 48.¢
331.( 304.
134.; 173.F
$776..  $774.
$ 56 $ (426
38.2 39.
52.€ 58.2
0.C 0.C
(1.2) (2.0)
$ 952 $ 52.¢

2010

$238.¢
431.¢
106.¢
0.7
(94.5)
$683.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Long-lived assets at year enc

United State: $31 $22C $16.7
United Kingdom 28.7 32.4 40.1
Rest of Europt 11.5 10.¢ 11.¢

$ 717 $65° $ 684

Identifiable assets at year end

United State: $174.1 $123.2 $ 974
United Kingdom 192.1 253.¢ 255t
Rest of Europt 63.€ 49.¢ 52.4
Other 0.4 0.t 0.t
Goodwill 149.( 141t 143.¢

$579.4  $568.6  $549.4

Note 4. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weightadge number of common shares outstanding dunmg@eriod.
Diluted earnings per share includes the effectptibos that are dilutive and outstanding duringgkdod. Per share
amounts are computed as follows:

2012 2011 2010

Numerator (in millions):

Net income available to common stockholc $ 68.Z $ 48.C $ 737
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstar 23,18’ 23,56¢ 23,75¢
Dilutive effect of stock options and awat 663 952 1,05¢
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 23,85( 24,52( 24,81«
Net income per share, basic $ 2.9t $ 2.07 $ 3.1C
Net income per share, diluted $ 2.8¢€ $ 1.9¢ $ 2.97

In 2012, 2011 and 2010 the average number of @ntinet options excluded from the calculation ofutiéd earnings
per share were 1,380, 690 and 61,808 respectively.

66



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)
Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the ¥ahg:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Land $ 7.2 $ 71
Buildings 6.5 5.1
Equipment 129.C 113.2
Work in progres: 3.5 8.2
146.2 133.%
Less accumulated depreciati (96.9 (87.8)
$ 49.¢ $ 45.€

Of the total net book value of equipment at Decan3de 2012 and 2011 no amounts are in respectsetabeld under
capital leases.

Depreciation charges were $7.0 million, $9.2 millend $9.3 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respebti
The estimated additional cost to complete workragpess is $2.7 million (2011 — $0.9 million).
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Note 6. Goodwill

The following table analyzes goodwill for 2012 &@il1. The change in the gross cost between 2012@i#Rlis due ti
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Performance

Fuel Octane
(in millions) Specialtie: Chemicals Additives Total
At January 1, 201
Gross cos $ 108.¢ $ 30.1 $ 236.¢ $ 375.¢
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (232.0 (232.0
Net book amour 108.¢ 30.1 4.€ 143.¢
Exchange effec (0.7) 0.C 0.C (0.2
Impairment losse 0.C 0.C (2.0 (2.0
At December 31, 201
Gross cos 108.¢ 30.1 236.¢ 375.5
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (234.0 (234.0
Net book amour 108.¢ 30.1 2.€ 141.t
Exchange effec 0.1 0.C (0.7) 0.C
Acquisitions 8.7 0.C 0.C 8.7
Impairment losse 0.C 0.C (1.2 (1.2
At December 31, 201
Gross cos 117.¢ 30.1 236.5 384.2
Accumulated impairment loss 0.C 0.C (235.7) (235.2)
Net book amour $ 117.¢ $ 30.1 $ 12 $ 149.(

Gross cost is net of $8.7 million, $0.3 million &2B9.5 million of historical accumulated amortieatin respect of th
Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemicals and Odddéives reporting segments, respectively.

The Company’s reporting units, the level at whidodwill is tested for impairment, are consisterttwvthe reportable
segments: Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemindl©atane Additives. The components in each seg(matding
products, markets and competitors) have similanecoc characteristics and the segments, therafeilect the lowest
level at which operations and cash flows can barlylalistinguished, operationally and for finanaigborting purposes,
from the rest of the Company.

The Company tests goodwill annually for impairmemtbetween years if events occur or circumstanbhaage which
suggest that an impairment may have occurred.

To determine the fair value of each of our segmestsitilize a discounted cash flow methodology Hasethe
forecasted future after-tax cash flows from operatifor each
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since we believe this provides the best approxnai fair value. This methodology requires us takenassumptions
and estimates including those in respect of futevenue growth and gross margins, which are bagsed our long
range plans, and the Company’s weighted averagetoapital. Our long range plans are regularlgiatpd as part of
our planning processes and are reviewed and apptyvenanagement and our Board of Directors. Werasderminal
values for the Fuel Specialties and Performancer@iads reporting units which are added to the pregalue of the
relevant forecasted future cash flows. We assuntemanal value for the Octane Additives reporturgt beyond its
estimated future life. The discounted cash flowhndblogy does not assume a control premium. Weawkgscount rat
equivalent to the Company’s weighted average dosaital which is estimated by reference to therall aftertax rate
of return required by equity and debt market pgodiots in the Company. We assign assets and tiabjlincluding
deferred taxes and goodwill, to our reporting uifite asset or liability relates to the operasiaf that reporting unit
and is included in determining the fair value af teporting unit. Cash and debt obligations aréuebed from the
carrying value of our reporting units.

In 2012 some of the assumptions and estimates pingdérg our discounted cash flows were revisedaatqf our
planning processes although the methodology walsanyed. The most significant revisions were thatGbmpany’s
weighted average cost of capital was changed kectehe changing proportion of debt to equity fiungdof the
Company.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Performance Chésgocadwill as
at December 31 each year. At December 31, 2012ad¢&h17.6 million and $30.1 million of goodwill ating to our
Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals segnrestsectively. At this date we performed annugamment tests
and concluded that there had been no impairmegoadwill in respect of those reporting segments.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octanedit/es market globally, as the Company makes s#i€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining salesa@mesponding cash flows that can be derived fizenQctane
Additives segment are reduced, and accordinglyainealue of the Octane Additives reporting usitéduced. As a
result, the Company determined that quarterly impant tests be performed from January 1, 2004 apdnapairment
charge arising be recognized in the relevant quakiea result of the Octane Additives impairmesst$ performed
during 2012, 2011 and 2010 impairment charges ¢ #illion, $2.0 million and $2.2 million, respeatily, have been
recognized. These charges are non-cash in natdrieaase no impact on taxation. There was $1.3 milibgoodwill
remaining at December 31, 2012 which relates t@ittane Additives segment. Given the quantum aedigability
of the remaining future cash flows from the Octawlelitives segment, the Company expects goodwillaimpent
charges to be recognized in the income statemeah@pproximate straight-line basis to DecembefB13.
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The table below presents the impact a change ifotlosving significant assumptions would have hadour
impairment charge recognized at December 31, 20l2$pect of goodwill, other intangible assets praperty, plant
and equipment) assuming all other assumptionsaetdrs remained constant:

Approximate Increase/(Decrease

(in millions) to Impairment Charge
Performance
Fuel Octane

Change Specialtie: Chemicals Additives
Credit-adjusted risk-free rate +1C% $ 0C $ 0.C $ 0C
Credit-adjusted ris-free rate -10% 0.C 0.C 0.C
After-tax cash flows +1C% 0.C 0.C (2.9)
After-tax cash flows -10% $ 0.C $ 0.C $ 24

We believe that the assumptions used in our arandhbjuarterly impairment tests are reasonablethiatithey are
judgmental, and variations in any of the assumpgtimay result in materially different calculatiorfSrapairment
charges, if any.

Acquisitions

On December 24, 2012, the Company acquired 100%eofoting equity interests in Strata Control Sesi Inc.
(“Strata”), a private company based in Crowley, is@na, for a consideration of approximately $6@ilion. Strata is
a leading supplier of mud and fluid loss solutiemsil and gas drilling operations, with annuaksaih 2012 of
approximately $20.0 million. Its products and seegi prevent the unnecessary loss of valuable raténto the
formation matrix thereby lowering the cost of opienas. We acquired Strata in order to build out presence in the
growing market that it serves.

Purchase price and fair values of assets acquiediabilities assumed

The following table summarizes the calculationtw total purchase price and the preliminary aliocadf the purchas
price to the assets acquired and liabilities assufiee purchase price allocation and related valngitrocess is not yet
complete. Final determination of the fair values/mesult in further adjustments to the amountsegaresd below:

(in millions) Strata
Other intangible asse $48.C
Goodwill 8.7
Other net asse 2.7

Purchase price, net of cash acqu

&+
a1
©
N

Strata, and the associated goodwill, will be ineldigvithin our Fuel Specialties segment for manageraed reporting
purposes. See Note 7 of the Notes to the Consetidéihancial Statements for further informationtios other
intangible assets. The purchase price
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comprises $53.1 million paid immediately on Decentbg 2012, and $5.0 million payable in cash in®26a&ntingent
upon the achievement of certain pre-determined@ia targets which we currently expect to be acdae For
accounting purposes only, we are required under BAAaccordance with our accounting policy, tadist this
acquisition-related contingent consideration tdatsvalue of $4.3 million. In addition, if the @rdetermined financial
targets are achieved, we will in 2015 transfer 68,8f Innospec common stock to Strata’s previousewthe fair
value of these contingently issuable shares a¢haisition date was $2.0 million which has beetudéed from
additional paid-in capital.

Supplemental unaudited condensed combined pro forfmanation

No amounts of revenue or earnings of Strata simee@tquisition date have been included in our tesolt the yea
ended December 31, 2012 since they are not matedalllustrative purposes only, however, pro farmformation of
the enlarged group is provided below but is noesearily indicative of what the financial positionresults of
operations would have been had the acquisition beempleted as of January 1, 2011. In additionutheudited pro
forma financial information is not indicative ofpindoes it purport to project, the future finangakition of operating
results of the enlarged group.

(in millions, except per share data 2012 2011
Net sales $793.t $790.1
Net income $ 734 $ 51.¢
Earnings per shar basic $ 3.1¢€ $ 2.1¢
—diluted $ 3.07 $ 2.11

Included in the unaudited pro forma financial imf@tion is additional amortization in respect of #oguired other
intangible assets. The acquisition-related costsried in respect of the transaction of $0.7 milliave been excluded.
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Note 7. Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets comprise the following:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Gross cost
- Ethyl $ 22.1 $22.1
— Technology 7.1 7.1
— Customer relationshig 16.C 16.C
— Patents 2.€ 2.€
— Internally developed software and other ct 10.1 3.1
— Strata 48.C 0.C
106.2 51.2
Accumulated amortizatior
— Ethyl (16.€) (15.0)
— Technology (6.0) (5.2
— Customer relationshif (12.7) (11.2)
— Patents (2.9 (2.0)
— Internally developed software and other ct 0.C 0.C
(37.6) (33.9)
$ 68.€ $17.7

Ethyl

An intangible asset of $28.4 million was recogniaethe second quarter of 2007 in respect of EGofporation
foregoing their entitlement effective April 1, 206¥a share of the future income stream underdtes @ind marketing
agreements to market and sell TEL. In 2008, cohpamvisions no longer deemed necessary of $6.[Bomivere offset
against the intangible asset. The amount attribisteélde Octane Additives reporting segment wasdgamortized
straight-line to December 31, 2012 and the amotiribated to the Fuel Specialties reporting segnebeing
amortized straight-line to December 31, 2017. BitecOctober 1, 2011, the Company extended itsneté for the
future life of the Octane Additives segment froncBber 31, 2012 to December 31, 2013 and therpfospectively
adjusted the amortization period for the amoumitatted to the Octane Additives segment. An amatitin expense of
$1.6 million was recognized in 2012 (2011 — $1.9iom) in cost of goods sold.

Technology

Following the acquisition of the remaining 50% ohospec Fuel Specialties LLC on July 8, 2004, tom@any
recognized an intangible asset of $2.3 milliondspect of various technological approvals the lmssifmas received
from certain military and civilian authorities. Theprovals act as a barrier to entry to any pakotimpetitor in the
market who would wish to supply these products.
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An intangible asset of $4.8 million was recognizedespect of a number of specialized manufactupirmgesses carri
out by Innospec Widnes Limited following the acafing of that entity in August 2004.

Both of these assets have an expected life of &6syend are being amortized on a straight-lineslkaser this period.
No residual value is anticipated. An amortizatiapense of $0.7 million was recognized in 2012 (2— $0.7 million)
in cost of goods sold.

Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbiinnospec Active Chemicals LLC) in January 20068, Company
recognized an intangible asset totaling $7.1 mmi]l#®4.2 million of which was in relation to custanfists acquired.
This asset has an expected life of 13 years abeling amortized on a straight-line basis over pleisod. No residual
value is anticipated.

Intangible assets were recognized in 2004 in rés@daoth the Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC ($9illion) and
Innospec Widnes Limited ($2.8 million) acquisitipasd relate to ongoing customer relationshipsséheve an
expected life of 10 years and are being amortized straight-line basis over that period. No reslicalue is
anticipated.

An amortization expense of $1.5 million was recagdiin 2012 (2011 — $1.5 million) in selling, gealeand
administrative expenses.

Patents

Following the acquisition of Finetex, the Compaagagnized an intangible asset of $2.9 million Bpext of patents
and trademarks. These have an expected life okafsyand are being amortized on a straigktbasis over that peric
An amortization expense of $0.3 million was recagdiin 2012 (2011 — $0.3 million) in cost of gosddd.

Internally developed software and other costs

We are continuing with the implementation of a neampany-wide, information system platform. At Dexeer 31,
2012 we had capitalized $10.1 million (2011 — $8illion) in relation to this internally developedfsvare. No
amortization was recognized in 2012 (2011 — $0.0an).

Strata

On December 24, 2012, the Company acquired 100®%teofoting equity interests in Strata. The purchasmz
allocation and related valuation process is notgetplete. We have however provisionally alloca#48.0 million of
the purchase price to other intangible assets whielkxpect to amortize on a straight-line basthéincome statement
over a weighted average expected life of 13 ydamal determination of the fair values may resulturther
adjustments to these estimates.
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Amortization expense

The aggregate other intangible asset amortizatiperese was $4.1 million, $4.4 million and $4.7 roillin 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively, of which $2.6 million, $#8lion and $3.1 million, respectively, was recaggd in cost of
goods sold, and the remainder was recognized lingeyjeneral and administrative expenses.

Future amortization expense is estimated to bed®hdlion, $10.5 million and $9.5 million for 2012014, and 2015
respectively.

Note 8. Deferred Finance Costs

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a new fia-gevolving credit facility and $1.7 million offieancing costs
were capitalized. These are being amortized oweetpected life of the revolving credit facilitying the effective
interest method. Deferred finance costs associaitiicthe previous finance facility became fully amized in the third
quarter of 2011.

(in millions) 2012 2011
Gross cos $1.7 $1.7
Accumulated amortizatio (0.9 0.C

$1.2 $1.7

Amortization expense was $0.4 million, $0.5 milliand $1.4 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respetyivThe charge
is included in interest expense (see Note 2).

Note 9. Pension Plans

United Kingdom plan

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension filee “Plan”) covering a number of its current doamer
employees in the United Kingdom, although it ddes &ave other much smaller pension arrangementteib).S. and
overseas. The Plan is closed to future servicauatbut has a large number of deferred and cupemsioners. The
Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBQO”) is based amali salary and years of credited service reducesbbial security
benefits according to a plan formula. Normal retiemt age is 65 but provisions are made for eatiseraent. The
Plan’s assets are invested by two investment mamaggecompanies in funds holding United Kingdom andrseas
equities, United Kingdom and overseas fixed intesesurities, index linked securities, propertyt tinists and cash or
cash equivalents. The trustegs/estment policy is to seek to achieve specifipgctives through investing in a suite
mixture of real and monetary assets. The trustaggnize that the returns on real assets, whilea®d to be greater
over the long-term than those on monetary assetdikaly to be more volatile. A mixture acrossetsdasses should
nevertheless provide the level of returns requingthe Plan to meet its liabilities at an accemdbVel of risk for the
trustees and an acceptable level of cost to thep@om
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The Company closed the Plan to future service atevith effect from March 31, 2010 and accordingly recorded a
non-cash curtailment loss of $8.2 million in thesffiquarter of 2010. During the second quarterddid®2the Company
implemented a pension increase exchange (“PIEQnara for current pensioners, effective April 1, @0#vhich
reduced the PBO by $17.1 million. This reductiof?BO resulted in a prior service credit which i;ngeamortized
using the straight-line method over the remainifegdxpectancy of Plan pensioners of 15 years cameing April 1,
2010. The PIE program provided pensioners withogiteon of receiving a one-off immediate increaséhir pension
in lieu of future non-statutory increases. Durihg fourth quarter of 2010 the Company implementedrdanced
transfer value (“ETV") program for deferred pengawhich reduced the PBO by $15.7 million andltedun a
settlement loss of $1.1 million. The ETV program\pded deferred pensioners with the option of tiamig their
existing pension entitlement from the Plan to aaotlehicle in exchange for an enhancement to Hredard terms
available for such a transfer.

Since April 2010 the Company has been contribuia@ million (approximately $9 million) per calemdeear to the
Plan in accordance with a 10-year actuarial defegibvery plan agreed with the trustees. The Cognpapects its
annual cash contribution from January 1, 2013 taggroximately $11 million.

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Plan net pension (credit)/charg

Service cos $ 1€ $ 1.€ $ 1€
Interest cost on PB! 32.2 36.¢€ 40.¢
Expected return on plan ass (34.1) (36.7) (35.9)
Amortization of prior service crec 1.3 2.3 (0.9
Amortization of actuarial net loss 1.2 0.3 5.2

$ (0.9 $ O:E $ 10.€

Plan assumptions (%

Discount rate 4.1° 4.7¢ 5.4(C
Inflation rate 2.2C 2.1 2.8(
Rate of increase in compensation le 0.0C 0.0cC 0.0cC
Rate of return on plan ass~ overall 4.9C 4.8t 5.4k
Rate of return on plan ass~ equity securitie: 7.2F 7.7C 7.7C
Rate of return on plan ass~ debt securitie 3.6t 3.6( 4.5C
Plan asset allocation by category (%
Equity securitie: 33 29 27
Debt securitie: 61 66 73
Cash 6 5 0
10C 10C 10C
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The discount rate used represents the annualieddilyased on a cash flow matched methodology wittrence to an
AA corporate bond spot curve and having regarthéoduration of the Plan’s liabilities. The inflaticate is derived
using a similar cash flow matched methodology &slder the discount rate but having regard to ifferénce betwee
yields on fixed interest and index linked Unitechgfdlom government gilts. The rate of increase inprmsation levels
is no longer relevant since the Company closedPtae to future service accrual with effect from BtaBl, 2010. A
0.25% change in the discount rate assumption wchagge the PBO by approximately $26 million andrteepension
charge for 2013 by approximately $0.8 million. 8% change in the level of price inflation assumptivould change
the PBO by approximately $23 million and the netgien charge for 2013 by approximately $2.1 millibollowing
guidance issued by the United Kingdom governmenndw2010, and agreement from the Plan trusteesCtmpany
changed the inflation rate measure from the RPtadles Index to the Consumers Prices Index regultia reduction ii
actuarial net losses on an accounting basis obappately $47 million.

The current investment strategy of the Plan idoiaio an asset allocation of 65% debt securities34% equity
securities in order to achieve a more predictadtiern on assets. As at December 31, 2012 and appioximately
55% of the Plan’s assets were held in index-tragkimds with one investment management companyradxumpately
25% of the Plan’s assets were invested in Unitedyfom government gilts. No more than 5% of the Blagssets were
invested in any one individual company’s investnfends.
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Movements in PBO and fair value of Plan assetasffellows:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Change in PBC
Opening balanc $ 687.4 $ 684.(
Interest cos 32.2 36.€
Service cos 1.€ 1.€
Benefits paic (43.9 (45.7)
Actuarial losses/(gain: 94.£ 16.5
Exchange effec 33.€ (5.9
Closing balanc: $ 805.: $ 687.¢
Fair value of plan assei
Opening balanc $ 708.¢ $672.:
Actual benefits pai (43.9 (45.7)
Actual contributions by employ:t 9.2 9.8
Actual return on asse 61.2 78.€
Exchange effec 33.5 (6.5
Closing balanc $ 768.¢ $ 708.¢
Plan assets (deficit)/excess over P $ (36.7) $ 214
Unrecognized net los 177.¢ 103.]
Amortization of actuarial net loss (1.9 (0.3
Amortization of prior service crec 1.2 1.3
Amount recognized in other comprehensive (177.9 (104.1)
Pension (liability)/asse $ (36.7) $ 21.4

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan $&85.3 million and $687.4 million at December 32Q12 and 2011,
respectively.
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For the vast majority of assets, a market appramaldopted to assess the fair value of the assighsthe inputs being
the quoted market prices for the actual securitedd in the relevant fund. For Level 3 assets whiegee is no ready
market and for which no indicative dealer prices arailable, fund assets are independently evalpaiéh the use of
agreed upon procedures conducted by an audit dinonavide independent confirmation that proper aaan
procedures are being followed. The fair valuesesfgoon assets by level of input were as follows:

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset:
Inputs Inputs
(in millions) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
At December 31, 201
Fixed income securitie:
Debt securities issued by U.S. government and
government agencie $ 1.€ $ $ $ 1€
Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments and
government agencit 191.C 191.
Corporate debt securitis 284.¢ 284.¢
Residential mortgac-backed securitie 0.2 0.2
Other ass+-backed securitie 3.1 3.1
Equity securities
Equity securities held for proprietary investment
purpose: 134.¢ 134.¢
Real estati 33.2 33.2
Other asset 39.C 31.C 70.C
Total assets at fair valt 648.¢ 39.C 31.C 718.¢
Cash 49.¢ 49.¢
Total plan asset $ 698.¢ $ 39.C $ 31.C $768.¢
At December 31, 201
Fixed income securitie:
Debt securities issued by U.S. government and
government agencie $ 0.¢ $ $ $ 0.¢
Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments and
government agencit 221.( 221.(
Corporate debt securitis 254.2 254.%
Residential mortgac-backed securitie 0.2 0.2
Other ass+-backed securitie 2.2 2.2
Equity securities
Equity securities held for proprietary investment
purpose: 114.1 114.1
Real estat 26.1 26.1
Other asset 15.5 13.7 28.1 57.%
Total assets at fair valt 634.2 13.7 28.1 676.(
Cash 32.¢ 32.¢
Total plan asset $ 667.( $ 13.7 $ 28.1 $708.¢
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The reconciliation of the fair value of the Plasets using significant unobservable inputs (Leyel&s as follows:

Other

(in millions) Asset:

Balance at December 31, 2C $23.2
Realized/unrealized gains/(losse

Relating to assets still held at the reporting 1.C

Relating to assets sold during the pe! (0.5

Purchases, issuances and settlenr 4.5

Exchange effec (0.2

Balance at December 31, 2C 28.1

Realized/unrealized gains/(losse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting 1.2
Relating to assets sold during the pel 0.C
Purchases, issuances and settlerr 0.t
Exchange effec 1.1
Balance at December 31, 2C $31.C

The projected net pension charge for the year gnidecember 31, 2013 is as follows:

(in millions)
Service cos $ 1€
Interest cost on PB! 32.t
Expected return on plan ass (36.9)
Amortization of prior service crec (1.3
Amortization of actuarial net loss 7.C
$ 2¢
The following benefit payments are expected to belen
(in millions)
2013 $ 45.F
2014 $ 46.2
2015 $ 46.¢
2016 $ 47.C
2017 $ 48.C
2018- 2022 $249.¢
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German plan

The Company also maintains an unfunded definedfibg@msion plan covering a number of its curremd ormer
employees in Germany (the “German plan”). The Gerplan is closed to new entrants and has no assets.

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
German plan net pension charg

Service cos $ 0.1 $ 0.2 $ 0.1
Interest cost on PB! 0.3 .3 0.3

0.4 $ 0.5 $ 04

German plan assumptions (¥

Discount rate 3.2t 5.0C 5.0C
Inflation rate 2.0C 2.0C 2.0C
Rate of increase in compensation ley 2.7 2.7¢ 2.7

Movements in PBO of the German plan are as follows:

(in millions) 2012 2011

Change in PBC
Opening balanc $6.2 $6.3
Service cos 0.1 0.2
Interest cos 0.2 0.3
Benefits paic (0.2) (0.2
Actuarial losse: 2.€ 0.C
Exchange effec 0.2 (0.9
Closing balanc: $9.2 $6.2

The amount of unrecognized actuarial net losseshier comprehensive loss in respect of the Gerrfamip $1.8
million, net of tax of $0.8 million.

Other plans
Company contributions to defined contribution sceerduring 2012 were $7.4 million (2011 — $6.6 roid).
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Note 10. Income Taxes

A roll-forward of unrecognized tax benefits andaxsated accrued interest and penalties is as fstlow

Interest and Unrecognizec

(in millions) Penalties Tax Benefits Total

Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 3.8 $ 15.€ $19.4
Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc 0.C 0.C 0.C
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.1 2.C 2.1
Settlement: (3.€) (9.9 (12.€
Closing balance at December 31, 2! 0.2 8.2 8.€
Current (0.2 (2.0 (2.2
Non-current $ 0.1 $ 6.2 $ 64
Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 0.2 $ 8.2 $ 8.€
Additions related to tax positions taken in therent perioc 0.C 5.2 5.2
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.2 0.t 0.7
Reductions for tax positions of prior peric (0.7) (1.9 (1.9
Closing balance at December 31, 2 0.4 12.2 12.€
Current (0.9 (2.9 (3.2
Non-current $ 0.1 $ 9.2 $ 94
Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 0.4 $ 12.2 $12.€
Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc 0.C 0.2 0.2
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.2 0.C 0.2
Reductions due to lapsed statutes of limitat 0.C (0.2 0.2
Closing balance at December 31, 2I 0.€ 12.2 12.¢
Current 0.9) (2.7) (3.0
Non-current $ 0.2 $ 9.5 $ 9.8

All of the $12.8 million of unrecognized tax bengfiand interest and penalties, would impact oigcéfe tax rate if
recognized.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties asedaiath uncertain tax positions as part of incaeees in our
consolidated statements of income.

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company rded a $0.2 million addition to unrecognized tardfés and there
was a $0.2 million reduction in unrecognized tardfés due to the expiration of applicable statutelimitations
during the third quarter of 2012.
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The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incaaxereturns with the U.S. federal government, @aibus state and
foreign jurisdictions. As at December 31, 2012, @mnpany’s German subsidiaries were subject tatalkts in
Germany and the Company’s United Kingdom subsiglsanere subject to tax audits in the United Kingd®dhe
Company does not currently anticipate that adjustséf any, arising out of these tax audits wawsult in a material
change to its financial position as at Decembe2812.

The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries remain opéaderal income tax examination by the IRS forrge09
onwards. The Company and its U.S. subsidiarieswedeotification in January 2013, of a federalame tax
examination by the IRS for 2009. The Company da¢suarrently anticipate that adjustments, if amsiag out of this
tax audit would result in a material change tdiitancial position as at December 31, 2012. The gam’s
subsidiaries in foreign tax jurisdictions are operexamination including France (2009 onwards),n&aty (2006
onwards), Switzerland (2011 onwards) and the Urifiegjdom (2010 onwards).

The sources of income before income taxes werellasvs:

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Domestic $ 5.€ $(42.€) $11.1
Foreign 89.¢ 95.2 59.¢€

$95.2 $52.¢ $70.7

The components of income tax charges are summaaiz éallows:

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010

Current:

Federa $ 2.¢ $ 54 $ 7.2

Foreign 11.¢ 13.€ 4.C
14.7 19.C 11.2

Deferred:

Federa 12.2 (12.¢) (9.0

Foreign 0. (2.5 (5.2)

12.2 (15.9) (14.2)
$26.€ $ 3.7 $ (3.0

Cash payments for income taxes were $13.1 mil$a8,1 million and $22.9 million during 2012, 2011de2010,
respectively.
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory rate because of the factors indicatéalrbe

2012 2011 2010
Statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign income inclusior 48.¢ 20.t 7.1
Impairment of Octane Additives segment good 0.t 1.2 1.1
Foreign tax credit (38.9) (25.€) (7.2
Pension (credit)/charc (0.9 (8.9 0.t
Foreign tax rate differentii (16.9) (219.]) (13.5)
Permanent tax adjustmet (0.2) 0.2 (2.2
Amortization 0.t 0.7 1.7
Tax (credit)/charge from previous yei (0.€) (1.9 (2.9
Net charge/(credit) from unrecognized tax ben 0.2 7.7 (15.9)
OFFP/FCPA settlement accrt 0.C 0.C (5.6
United Kingdom income tax rate reducti (0.€) (4.9 (1.6
Other items and adjustments, (0.5 2.C (1.5

28.5% 7.C% (4.2)%

Significant factors affecting the variation to staty rate are set out above and include foreigonme inclusions net of
foreign tax credits. The mix of taxable profits geated in the different geographical localitiesvimich the Group
operates had a significant positive impact on ffectve tax rate in 2012.
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Details of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesaaralyzed as follows:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Deferred tax assets
Foreign tax credit $ 5.t $19.€
Accrued expense 4.€ 8.8
Stock options 5. 4.C
Excess of tax over book basis in property, pladtegquipmen 1.1 1.2
Net operating loss carry forwar 0.2 0.8
Pension liabilities 9.2 0.C
Other 4.7 5.t
Valuation allowance 0.C (7.5)
Deferred tax liabilities:
Goodwill amortizatior (6.9 (6.5)
Pension asst 0.C (5.9)
Other intangible asse (0.9 (1.5
Other (3.9 (2.2
Total net deferred tax as¢ $19.¢ $16.¢€
Deferred taxes are included within the consolidatethalance sheet
as follows:
Deferred tax asse $23.7 $19.7
Deferred tax liabilities (3.9 (2.9
$19.€ $16.¢
Current portion of deferred tax ass $11.C $ 0.C
Deferred tax assets, net of current por 12.7 19.7
Current portion of deferred tax liabilitie (0.2 0.C
Deferred tax liabilities, net of current porti (3.€) (2.9
$19.€ $16.€

Details of the deferred tax asset valuation alloware are as follows:

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
At January ] $(7.5 $(10.¢) $ (4.9
Change in foreign tax credi ks 3.2 (6.4)

©+
o
(@)

At December 3: $ (7.5) $(10.€)

As a result of the Company’s assessment of itslefetrred tax assets at December 31, 2012, the Gongoasiders it
more likely than not that no valuation allowanceeiquired for $0.3 million (2011 — $0.8 million) i net operating
loss carry forwards and that no valuation allowasaequired against its foreign tax credit caogwfards (2011 — $7.5
million).
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The net operating loss carry forwards arose irlkl& in the current period and prior periods assalt of trading and
state tax losses. It is expected that sufficiexdliée profits will be generated against which thestoperating loss cat
forwards can be relieved prior to their expiratior2021. The foreign tax credit carry forwards @& osthe U.S. in prior
periods. The Company has determined that futueidorincome inclusions will be sufficient to utéiall of the $5.5
million (2011 — $12.1 million) of the foreign taxelit carry forwards prior to their expiration i027 and 2021 and
therefore no valuation allowance is required.

Should it be determined in the future that it idormger more likely than not that these assetsheilfealized, a
valuation allowance would be required, and the Camgfs operating results would be adversely affecigathg the
period in which such a determination would be made.

During 2012 a dividend of $110.0 million was remittfrom the Company’s overseas subsidiaries t&JtBe The
dividend was remitted to provide funding for then@any’s acquisition program. The Company is in sitmm to
control whether or not to repatriate foreign eagsiand we intend to permanently reinvest earningsseas to fund
overseas subsidiaries. No taxes have been profodéide unremitted earnings of our overseas sulsed as any tax
basis differences relating to investments in tlee@rseas subsidiaries are considered to be permianduration. The
amount of unremitted earnings at December 31, 20822011 was approximately $717 million and $66Hiani
respectively. If these earnings are remitted, aulthl taxes could result after offsetting foreignome taxes paid
although the calculation of the additional taxesas practical at this time.

Note 11. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Revolving credii $20.C $20.C
Promissory not ~10.C _15.C
30.C 35.C

Less current portio _ (5.0 _ (5.0
$25.C $30.(

On December 14, 2011, we entered into a five-y@aslving credit facility which provides for borromgs by us of up
to $100.0 million. The facility carries an intereate based on U.S. LIBOR plus a margin of betweB0% and 2.25%
which is dependent on the Company’s ratio of nét tke EBITDA. EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of liglity
defined in the credit facility. The facility can deawn down until it expires on December 14, 204/&.repaid the
previous finance facility, which was due to expreFebruary 6, 2012, upon entering into the newitfacility.
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The Company’s credit facility contains restrictslauses which may constrain our activities andtlmar operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the credit facility and include atemil adverse change
to our assets, operations or financial conditidme Tacility contains a number of restrictions thait our ability,
amongst other things, and subject to certain lidnéeceptions, to incur additional indebtednesgjgeeour assets as
security, guarantee obligations of third partieakeninvestments, undergo a merger or consolidatisppse of assets,
or materially change our line of business.

In addition, the credit facility contains terms wfhj if breached, would result in it becoming regagan demand. It
requires, among other matters, compliance witifdhewing financial covenant ratios measured oruartgrly basis:
(1) the ratio of net debt to EBITDA shall not begter than 2.5:1 and (2) the ratio of EBITDA to ii¢rest shall not
be less than 4.0:1. Management has determinethin&ompany has not breached these covenants bwoutpe
period to December 31, 2012 and expects to nothreese covenants for the next 12 months. Thetdesility is
secured by a number of fixed and floating charges oertain assets which include key operating sitdhe Company
and its subsidiaries.

On September 13, 2011, the Company settled the Nele¥l Corporation civil complaint. The settlemegteeement
included the Company issuing a $15.0 million praoig note to NewMarket Corporation payable in thegeal annue
installments (carrying simple interest at 1% perwan), the first installment of which was paid orpt&enber 7, 2012.

The weighted average rate of interest on borrowmas 1.6% at December 31, 2012 and 3.4% at Decedib@011.
Payments of interest on long-term debt were $0lkomj $1.8 million and $2.0 million in 2012, 20khd 2010,
respectively.

The net cash outflows in respect of refinancingcesere $0.0 million, $1.7 million and $0.0 milliam2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

Note 12. Plant Closure Provisions

The principal site giving rise to environmental esfration liabilities is the Octane Additives maruitaing site at
Ellesmere Port in the United Kingdom, which managenbelieves is the last ongoing manufacturer df. TEhere are
also environmental remediation liabilities on a mgmaller scale in respect of our other manufaagusites in the U.S.
and Europe. The liability for estimated closuretsas Innospec’s Octane Additives manufacturinglitées includes
costs for decontamination and environmental rentiediactivities (remediation) when demand for THimphishes.
Severance provisions have been made in relati@otporate personnel and personnel in each of tee tieporting
segments.
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Movements in the provisions are summarized asvi@lio

Other

(in millions) Severanci Restructuring Remediatior Total

Total at January 1, 20! $ 1.2 $ 1.C $ 26.1 $28.4
Charge for the perio 0.5 0.C 2.5 3.C
Expenditure (0.9 (0.9) (2.7 (3.9
Exchange effec 0.1 (0.7) 0.C 0.C
Total at December 31, 20: 1.t 0.1 25.¢ 27.5
Due within one yea (0.5 (0.7) (3.3 (3.9
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1C $ 0.C $ 22.€ $23.€
Total at January 1, 207 $ 1t $ 0.1 $ 25.¢ $27.5
Charge for the perio 0.7 (0.7) 4.5 5.1
Expenditure (0.7) 0.C (3.2 (3.9
Exchange effec 0.C 0.C 0.2 (0.2
Total at December 31, 20: 1.t 0.C 27.1 28.€
Due within one yea 0.5 0.C (3.6 4.1
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1C $ 0.C $ 23.t $24.E
Total at January 1, 207 $ 1k $ 0.C $ 27.1 $28.¢€
Charge for the perio 0.2 0.C 4.C 4.2
Expenditure (0.6 0.C (2.2 (2.7
Exchange effec 0.C 0.C 0.2 0.2
Total at December 31, 20: 1.1 0.C 29.Z 30.4
Due within one yea (0.3 0.C (5.0 (5.
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1C $ 0.C $ 24.% $25.2

Amounts due within one year refer to provisions ehexpenditure is expected to arise within one pééne balance
sheet date. Severance charges are recognizedinctme statement as restructuring costs along atitar
restructuring costs. Remediation costs are recegniz cost of goods sold.

Severance
A charge of $0.2 million was recognized in resp#a reduction in EMEA headcount.

Other restructuring

A residual accrual of $0.1 million, in respect ¢ trelocation of a U.S. sales and administraticilifia, was released in
2011.
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Remediation

The remediation provision represents the Compdiapdity for environmental liabilities and asse&tirement
obligations. The accretion expense recognized i22@as $2.5 million. The remediation charge alstuided a further
$1.5 million primarily in respect of changes in #pected cost and scope of future remediationities.

We recognize environmental liabilities when theg probable and costs can be reasonably estimaig@dsset
retirement obligations when there is a legal oltiayeand costs can be reasonably estimated. Thep@ayrhas to
anticipate the program of work required and th@eaiased future expected costs, and comply withrenvnental
legislation in the countries in which it operate$as operated in. The Company views the costacdting our
Ellesmere Port site as contingent upon if and wheacates the site because there is no presemitioh to do so. The
Company has further determined that, due to thentmia product life of TEL particularly in the matkfor aviation
gasoline and other products being manufactureth@site, there are uncertainties as to the prabahiid timing of the
expected costs. Such uncertainties have been evedith estimating the provision.

Remediation expenditure against provisions was $@lion, $3.1 million and $2.7 million in 2012, 2@ and 2010,
respectively.

Note 13. Deferred Income

Deferred income consists of:

(in millions) 2012 2011
Deferred income $2.2 $2.¢
Less current portio (1.4 (1.4)

»
o
«
o©
o
«

Non-current deferred incomnr

Non-current deferred income of $0.9 million relateptst acquisition government grants received byps$pec Leuna
GmbH.

Note 14. Profit on Disposal, net

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Profit on disposal of surplus United Kingdom restlage $0.1 $0.C $0.2
Loss on disposal of surplus U.S. real es _0.C _0.C (0.7)

&
o
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&
o
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&
o
_
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In the third quarter of 2012, the Company recogh&&0.1 million profit following the disposal dfirplus real estate.
In April 2010, the Company recognized a $0.2 millrofit following the disposal of surplus realast The loss on
disposal of the surplus U.S. real estate relatéiset@ale of the Company’s former manufacturing isitElmwood Park,
New Jersey

Note 15. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be receivedeiban asset or paid to transfer a liability inaderly transaction
between market participants at the measuremen{eteprice). The Company utilizes a mid-marketing
convention for valuing the majority of its assets &iabilities measured and reported at fair valilee Company utilize
market data or assumptions that market participaotdd use in pricing the asset or liability, inding assumptions
about risk and the risks inherent in the inputgtovaluation technique. These inputs can be eatiBervable, market
corroborated or generally unobservable. The Compainyarily applies the market approach for recgtiair value
measurements and endeavors to utilize the bedablainformation. Accordingly, the Company util&zealuation
techniques that maximize the use of observabletsngud minimize the use of unobservable inputs.ddmpany is
able to classify fair value balances based on tiserwability of those inputs. The Company givestighest priority to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measuretnhdfinancial assets and liabilities are classifretheir entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is sigaificto the fair value measurement. The Compangesssnent of the
significance of a particular input to the fair valneasurement requires judgment and may affecstatli@tion of fair
value assets and liabilities and their placemetttiwthe fair value hierarchy Levels. In 2012, @@empany evaluated
the fair value hierarchy levels assigned to itetssand liabilities, and concluded that there shdel no transfers into
out of Levels 1, 2 and 3.
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The following table presents the carrying amourmt fair values of the Company’s assets and liabgditheasured on a
recurring basis:

December 31, 201. December 31, 201
Carrying Carrying
Fair Fair

(in millions) Amount Value Amount Value
Assets
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 224 $ 224 $ 76.2 $ 76.2
Shor-term investment 5.1 5.1 4.¢ 4.8
Non-financial assets (Level 3 measurement
Goodwill - Octane Additive: 1.2 1.2 2.€ 2.€
Derivatives (Level 1 measurement)
Other nor-current asset:

Commaodity swap 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2

Foreign currency forward exchange contr: 0.8 0.8 0.C 0.C
Liabilities
Non-derivatives:
Long-term debt (including current portio 30.C 30.C 35.C 35.C
Non-financial liabilities (Level 3 measurement):
Acquisitior-related contingent considerati 4.2 4.2 0.C 0.C
Derivatives (Level 1 measurement)
Other nor-current liabilities:

Interest rate sway 0.C 0.C 0.1 0.1

Foreign currency forward exchange contr: $ 0C $ 0.C $ OF $ O0E

The following methods and assumptions were usedtimate the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents, and short-term invedsnéhe carrying amount approximates fair value becafisiee
short-term maturities of such instruments.

Long-term debt:Long-term debt comprises the revolving credit iacénd the promissory note, which were entered
into in December 2011 and September 2011, respdetiVhe carrying amount of long-term debt appreades fair
value.

Acquisitior-related contingent consideratio@eferred consideration payable in cash is discaliaéts fair value.
Where deferred consideration is contingent upordetermined financial targets, an estimate of gnevialue of the
likely consideration payable is made.
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Derivatives:The fair value of derivatives relating to intereste swaps, foreign currency forward exchange eotdr
and commodity swaps are derived from current se#fe prices and comparable contracts using cuassitmptions.

The cumulative gains and losses on the intereststaps and commodity swaps are summarized asvfollo

(in millions) 2012 2011
Balance at January $0.1 $1.2
Change in fair valu _0.C (1.
Balance at December : 0.1 $0.1

On June 12, 2009, the Company entered into $50l@mof interest rate swaps which were amortizad enatured
between February 2010 and February 2012 in link thié long-term debt maturity profile of our prewsofinance
facility. We repaid the previous finance facilitpan entering into the new credit facility in Decesn011, at which
point the remaining interest rate swaps were resttlgreffective and the associated fair value I6s$dL million
recognized in earnings. The interest rate swapkfigdafor hedge accounting until this point.

The commodity swaps are used to manage the Congeagh flow exposure to raw material cost volgtillthey were
designated as cash flow hedges and qualified fdgén@ccounting throughout the year ended Decenihe&d(3.1. At
March 31, 2012, the commodity hedges were detedrtimdée ineffective and consequently a gain of $dillion was
recognized in earnings. The commodity hedges ikély remain ineffective for the remainder of thisrm and
accordingly all subsequent changes in their fduerare being recognized in earnings. At DecembeP311, the
commodity hedges were determined to be effectidecamsequently an unrealized gain of $0.2 milliaswecorded in
other comprehensive income.

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts primagiate to contracts entered into to hedge fukin@wn
transactions or hedge balance sheet net cashgmssifihe movements in the carrying amounts and/édires of these
contracts are largely due to changes in excharigs against the U.S. dollar.

Note 16. Derivative Instruments and Risk Manageent

The Company has limited involvement with derivatinstruments and does not trade them. The Compaey use
derivatives to manage certain interest rate, foreigrency exchange rate and raw material costsexps.

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011 the Company haderest rate instruments designated as effebtdges. The
interest rate swaps which expired on February 622@ere ineffective at December 31, 2011 becaws€tmpany’s
previous finance facility, which carried the copending floating rate debt obligations, had begraig Accordingly, a
loss of $0.1 million was recognized in earning2@i1.
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The Company has hedged the cost of certain rawrralstevith commodity swaps which are summarizetbiews:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Carrying Carrying
Fair Fair
(in millions) Amount Value Amount Value
Notional quantity- 2,075 tonne: $ 0.2 $ 0.2
Notional quantity- 275 tonne: $ 0.1 $ 0.1

The impact on the income statement for the laghf@ths is summarized below:

Amount of Gain/

(Loss)

Gain/(Loss) Reclassified fron
Recognized il
Location of Gain/(Loss) Accumulated

OCl on Reclassified from Accumulated OCl into

(in millions) Derivative OCl into Income Income
Commodity contract $ 0.1 Cost of goods sol $ 0.2
Taxation 0.C Income taxe: (0.2)
$ 0.1 $ 0.2

We enter into various foreign currency forward exwlpe contracts to minimize currency exchange rgiesaire from
expected future cash flows. The contracts have nihatiates of up to four years at the date of iicep These foreign
currency forward exchange contracts have not besigdated as hedging instruments, and their ingratite income
statement in 2012, 2011 and 2010 is summarizedwelo

Amount of Gain/(Loss)

Location of Gain/(Loss) Recognized in Income
(in millions) Recognized in Income 2012 2011 201C
Foreign currency forward exchan
contracts Other income/(expens $1.2 $1.2 $0.¢

The Company sells a range of Fuel Specialtiespfagnce Chemicals and Octane Additives to majareditheries and
chemical companies throughout the world. CredittBpongoing credit evaluation and account momigiprocedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally required.
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Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating leases

The Company has commitments under operating lgaswearily for office space, motor vehicles and eas items of
computer and office equipment. The leases are ¢éxgpéa be renewed and replaced in the normal cairsasiness.
Rental expense was $2.9 million in 2012, $2.6 onillin 2011 and $2.8 million in 2010. Future comnaihts under

non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)
2013 $2.1
2014 1.t
2015 1.1
2016 1.C
2017 0.S
Thereaftel 0.€
$7.5

Environmental remediation obligations

Commitments in respect of environmental remediatibligations are disclosed in Note 12.

Contingencies
Resolution of certain government investigations and other matters

As we have previously disclosed, in the first geadf 2010, the Company reached a $40.2 milliotieseént to resolve
all matters in respect of investigations by U.S1 Bimited Kingdom government authorities into ceriaigacy
transactions conducted by the Company and its duabigis under the United Nations Oil for Food Pemgr(“OFFP”),
the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPAe td.S. Cuban Assets Control Regulations (“CACR'Y) &mited
Kingdom anti-bribery laws. The settlement considtBnes, penalties and disgorgements which aralpl@yover a
period of four years commencing 2010. As at DecerBthe2012, the expected schedule of payments svédlaws:

Government Compliance

(in millions) Authorities Monitor Total
Fines, penalties and disgorgements $ 40.2 $ 0.C $40.2
Fees and associated exper 0.C 3.¢ 3.¢
Less discounting to fair valt (0.7) 0.C (0.7)
40.1 3.¢ 44.(
Amounts paic (36.5) (2.6) (39.])
Exchange effec 0.1 0.C 0.1
3.7 L& 5.C
Due within one yea (3.9 (1.9 (5.0
$ 0.C $ 0.C $ 0.C
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For accounting purposes only, we are required uGdeXP, in accordance with our accounting policydiscount
elements of the fines, penalties and disgorgenteriteeir fair value.

Settlement of NewMarket Corporation civil complaint

As we have previously disclosed, the Company andubsidiaries, Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH andpec
Limited, were the subject of two civil actions bght by NewMarket Corporation and its subsidiarytoAfChemical
Corporation (collectively, “NewMarket”). NewMarkahd the Company agreed to settle these actionagniro the
terms of a settlement agreement between them sgmn&eptember 13, 2011 which provided for mutulglages of the
parties and dismissal of the actions with prejudideder the settlement agreement, the CompanypagliNewMarket
an aggregate amount of approximately $45.0 millgayable in a combination of cash, a promissorg aoid stock, of
which $25.0 million was paid in cash in Septeml@&t 122 $15.0 million is payable in three equal annnstallments
under the promissory note (carrying simple intea¢st% per annum) the first installment of whichsvpaid on
September 7, 2012, and approximately $5.0 milli@s waid in the form of 195,313 shares of the Coryipasommon
stock transferred to NewMarket in September 2011.

Other legal matters

While we are involved from time to time in claimsdalegal proceedings that result from, and aredemtal to, the
conduct of our business including business and cential litigation, employee and product liabilithaens, there are t
other material pending legal proceedings to whidh@ompany or any of its subsidiaries is a pamyfaevhich any of
their property is subject. It is possible howevkat an adverse resolution of an unexpectedly laugeber of such
individual items could in the aggregate have a naltadverse effect on results of operations fpagicular year or
quarter.

Guarantees

The Company and certain of the Comg’s consolidated subsidiaries are contingently listnlecertain obligations ¢
affiliated companies primarily in the form of guatees of debt and performance under contractseshieto as a
normal business practice. This includes guarardkren-U.S. excise taxes and customs duties. Aseaémber 31,
2012, such contingent liabilities which are notogruized as liabilities in the consolidated finahstatements amount
to $7.7 million.

Under the terms of the guarantee arrangementsragnine Company would be required to perform stidhe
affiliated company fail to fulfill its obligationander the arrangements. In some cases, the guai@némgements have
recourse provisions that would enable the Compamgdover any payments made under the terms gfuamntees
from securities held of the guaranteed partiestass
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The Company and its affiliates have numerous lemgitsales and purchase commitments in their vabaemess
activities, which are expected to be fulfilled with adverse consequences material to the Company.

Note 18. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock
(number of shares in thousand: 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
At January 1 29,55F 29,55 29,55¢ 6,507 5,851 5,89(
Exercise of option 0 0 0 (33%) (23€) (186
Stock purchase 0 0 0 48 1,087 147
Settlement of NewMarket Corporation civil comple 0 0 0 0 (19%) 0
At December 3: 29,55 29,55f 2955f 6,22: 6,507 5,85]

At December 31, 2012, the Company had authorizethwan stock of 40,000,000 shares (2011 — 40,000, 08$)ed
shares at December 31, 2012, were 29,554,500 2@9]1554,500) and treasury stock amounted to 8)ZBXhares
(2011 - 6,507,081).

Note 19. Share Based Compensation Plans

Stock option plans

The Company has five active stock option plans, dwhich provide for the grant of stock optionstmployees, one
provides for the grant of stock options to non-eygpk directors, and another provides for the grastock options to
key executives on a matching basis provided theyaysroportion of their annual bonus to purchasengon stock in
the Company on the open market or from the Comp&ing fifth plan is a savings plan which providestfte grant of
stock options to all Company employees provideg ttmmmit to make regular savings over a pre-defpexibd which
can then be used to purchase common stock upangestthe options. The stock options have vestiegods ranging
from 24 months to 6 years and in all cases stotkpgranted expire within 10 years of the datgraht. All grants
are at the sole discretion of the Compensation Citteerof the Board of Directors. Grants may beeqatiat market
value or at a premium or discount. The aggregamelbeu of shares of common stock reserved for issuieunich can be
granted under the plans is 2,640,000.
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The fair value of the options above is calculatsithg the Black-Scholes model. In some cases cgr&ifiormance
related options are dependent upon external fastars as the Comparsystock price and the fair value of these opt
is calculated using a Monte Carlo model. The follapassumptions were used to determine the fairevaf options
calculated using the Black-Scholes model:

2012 2011 2010
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.2% 1.C%
Expected life 5 year: 5 year: 5 year:
Volatility 60.1% 78.2% 82.2%
Risk free interest ral 0.4%% 1.22% 1.3€%

The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s stock option plans for the year eridecember 31,
2012:

Weighted
Weighted Average Fair
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,229,221 $ 5.4¢

Grantec- at discoun 75,93 $ 0.0C $ 21.9¢

— at market valu 31,01: $ 29.5¢ $ 16.7C
Exercisec (325,879 $ 3.8(C
Forfeited (9,044 $ 10.0C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,001,24 $ 6.27
The following table summarizes information aboutiaps outstanding at December 31, 2012:

Weighted
Weighted Number Average Weighted
Weighted Exercisable Remaining
Average Average Average
Range of Exercis Number Remaining Exercise and Fully Life in Exercise
Price Outstanding Life in Years Price Vested Years Price

$0- $5 561,81: 7.01 $ 0.5¢ 128,61 6.0 $ 0.6¢

$5- $10 20,65¢ 2.71 $ 9.9 20,65« 2.71 $ 9.9¢

$10- $15 355,23: 2.17 $ 11.2% 0 0.0C $ 0.0C

$20- $25 11,18¢ 5.1¢ $ 20.5% 11,18¢ 5.1¢ $ 20.57

$25- $30 50,97¢ 7.84 $ 28.5¢ 11,66¢ 4.14 $ 27.0¢

$30- $35 1,38( 8.37 $ 32.6( 0 0.0C $ 0.0C

1,001,24 172,12:

The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested stopkions was $1.3 million. Of the 172,122 stockiam that are
exercisable, 95,724 had performance conditionsteth The total compensation cost for 2012, 2012810 was $3.
million, $3.1 million and $3.1 million, respectiyelThe cash tax benefit realized from stock opgzarcises totaled
$2.7 million,

96



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

$1.7 million and $0.5 million in 2012, 2011 and RQfespectively. The excess tax benefit classifidthancing
activities was $2.2 million, $1.1 million and $0xillion in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. To&lt compensation
cost related to non-vested stock options not yaigeized at December 31, 2012 was $2.8 millionthigdcost is
expected to be recognized over the weighted-avgraged of 1.31 years.

No stock options awards were modified in 2012, 26002010. On February 13, 2009, we extended thengegeriod
for 132,470 grants made under a key employee pedioce related stock option plan from February 08920
February 13, 2011, and modified the performanderdaito reflect the longer vesting period. Additd compensation
cost of $0.2 million was required to be recognifmthese modified stock options in the period ey 13, 2009 to
February 13, 2011.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 012, 2011 and 2010 was $1.5 million, $2.2 milliovd &3.7 million,
respectively. The amount of cash received fronettercise of stock option awards in 2012, 2011 &iD2vas $1.2
million, $0.7 million and $0.2 million, respectiyelThe Company’s policy is to issue shares froraguey stock to
holders of stock options who exercise those optibsing 2012, 2011 and 2010 the new total faiueadf shares
vested was $1.3 million, $2.9 million and $4.4 iaill, respectively.

The total options vested in 2012 were 374,384 (20220,363, 2010 — 174,298).

Stock equivalent units

The Company awards Stock Equivalent Units (“SEWsIin time to time as a long-term performance incentSEUs
have vesting periods ranging from 11 months toatyand in all cases SEUs granted expire withipeEds of the date
of grant. Grants may be priced at market value ar@emium or discount. There is no limit to thenier of SEUSs the
can be granted. The liability for SEUs is locatedhie current portion of accrued liabilities in tensolidated balance
sheets until they are cash settled.

SEUs can have certain performance related meadependent upon external factors such as the Corigpsiiogk
price. In such cases the fair value of SEUs isutaled using the Monte Carlo model. The followisg@mptions were
used in the Monte Carlo model:

2012 2011 2010
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.5%
Volatility 43.8% 64.2% 78.%%
Risk free interest ral 0.3€6% 0.3¢% 1.05%
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The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s SEUs for the year ended Decembe2®L:

Weighted
Number of Weighted Average Fair
Average
SEUs Exercise Price Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 864,08 $ 2.3C
Grantec— at discoun 98,12¢ $ 0.0C $ 29.7:
— at market valu 7,292 $ 29.5¢ $ 15
Exercisec (345,679 $ 1.0
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 623,82t $ 2.9¢
The following table summarizes information aboutSButstanding at December 31, 2012:
Weighted
Weighted Number Average Weighted
Weighted Exercisable Remaining
Average Average Average
Range of Exercis Number Remaining Exercise and Fully Life in Exercise
Price Outstanding Life in Years Price Vested Years Price
$0- $5 529,14 7.64 $ 0.21 94,21( 6.25 $ 1.17
$10- $15 51,25¢ 7.13 $ 10.3¢ 0 0.0C $ 0.0C
$25- $30 43,42 8.31 $ 27.52 0 0.0C $ 0.0C
623,82¢ 94,21(

The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested SEas $0.4 million. Of the 94,210 SEUs that are ezatie, 70,399
had performance conditions attached. The total emsgtion cost for 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $6.8omjl$5.9
million and $5.2 million, respectively. The chardes SEUs are spread over the life of the awardesiifbo a
revaluation to fair value each quarter. The reviddnamay result in a charge or a credit to the mestatement in the
guarter dependent upon our share price and othfarpwnce criteria. The weighted-average remainiggfing period

of non-vested SEUs is 0.85 years.

The total intrinsic value of SEUs exercised in 20@211 and 2010 was $1.3 million, $0.4 million &4 million,
respectively. The amount of cash received fronettercise of SEU awards in 2012, 2011 and 2010 Wakillion,
$0.0 million and $0.0 million, respectively. Duri2§12, 2011 and 2010 the new total fair value df)Skested was

$0.5 million, $0.0 million and $0.0 million, respiaely.
The total number of SEUs that vested in 2012 w&s343} (2011 — 19,000, 2010 — 600).

Longterm incentive plan

An additional long-term incentive plan was in placeeward selected executives for delivering ekoegl

performance. Under this plan a discretionary bamas payable to
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eligible executives if the Innospec share perforceanut-performed that of competitors, as measuyatidRussell
2000 Index, by a minimum of 10% over the five ydaosn January 2008 to December 2012. The amouboofis
earned was a set cash amount for each one peregydayg of out-performance. The maximum bonus uttierplan
was payable for an out-performance versus the R0 Index of 30%. The maximum bonus under pitgs, in
respect of the current participants, was $8 mil{@@11 — $8 million, 2010 — $8 million). No bonusswpayable under
this plan if the Innospec stock price had not cerfgrmed the Russell 2000 Index by more than 1086 the five year
period, or the Russell 2000 Index had fallen irueabver the same period. The fair value of thedmliiy cash-settled
stock appreciation rights was calculated on a qugrbasis using a Monte Carlo model and summarzeidllows:

(in millions) 2012 2011 2010
Balance at January $ 2.2 $ 0.8 $ 0.2
Compensation charg 5.8 14 0.€
Cash paic (6.7 0.C 0.C
Balance at December : $ 1.2 $ 2.2 $ 0.8
The following assumptions were used in the Montdddaodel:
2012 2011 2010

Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.5%
Volatility 0.C% 53.5% 69.(%
Risk free interest rat 0.3¢% 0.3¢% 1.05%

Note 20. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemsn

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-0ftangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Tasgtindefinite-Lived
Intangible Assets for Impairme. ASU 2012-02 simplifies how entities test indet@alived intangible assets, other that
goodwill, for impairment and permits an entity isf assess qualitative factors to determine whathe more likely
than not that the indefinite-lived intangible agsdatnpaired. The amendments are effective for ahand interim
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tgs¢sformed for fiscal years beginning after Septenilae 2012 (early
adoption is permitted). The implementation of theeaded accounting guidance is not expected to dawaterial
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011BHlance Sheet (Topic 210): Disclosures about QifgpAssets and
Liabilities . The objective of ASU 2011-11 is to facilitate gergence of U.S. GAAP and International Financial
Reporting Standards and improve the comparabifistatements of financial position. Entities arguieed to disclose
both gross information and net information abouhbostruments and transactions eligible for offaet
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the statement of financial position and instrumemis transactions subject to an agreement sinoilambaster netting
arrangement. This scope would include derivatisak and repurchase agreements, and securitiessiogrand
securities lending arrangements. This guidanc#estese for annual reporting periods beginningasrafter January 1,
2013, and interim periods within those annual miidentities should provide the disclosures reguingthese
amendments retrospectively for all comparativequeripresented. The Company is currently evaludtiegotential
impact that the adoption of this statement willéaw its consolidated financial statements.

Note 21. Related Party Transactions

Mr. Robert |. Paller has been a non-executive threaf the Company since November 1, 2009. The Gomas

retained and continues to retain Smith, Gambrdiussell, LLP (“SGR”), a law firm with which Mr. Rat holds a
position. In 2012, 2011 and 2010 the Company imzlifees payable to SGR of $0.8 million, $6.5 milland $1.1
million, respectively. As at December 31, 2012, dhgount due to SGR from the Company was $0.0 millio

Note 22. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thtibeiglate that the consolidated financial statesnerte issued,
and has concluded that no additional disclosuresegjuired in relation to events subsequent t#tence sheet date.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this regegtCompany carried out an evaluation under thersigpon and with
the participation of our management, including @eef Executive Officer and the Chief Financial ioéfr, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the@amy’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (dsdd in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exch&ug®f 1934, as amended).

Based upon this evaluation of disclosure controts@ocedures, the Company’s Chief Executive Offaoed Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that the Compansslosure controls and procedures were effectsvef
December 31, 2012.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabyj and maintaining adequate internal controt émancial
reporting. The Compang’internal control over financial reporting is @pess designed to provide reasonable assu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingcithe preparation of financial statements for exiepurposes in
accordance with accounting principles generallyeptad in the United States of America.

Due to its inherent limitations, internal contr@ken financial reporting may not prevent or detestatements. In
addition, projections of any evaluation of effeetiess to future periods are subject to the riskabtrols may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btitbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehgmsCompany’s internal control over financiaporting as of
December 31, 2012. In making this assessment, reareg used the criteria internal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (“COSQO”).

The Company acquired Strata Control Services,dndecember 24, 2012. Management excluded froasgsssment
of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal cardaver financial reporting as of December 31,28tratas interna
control over financial reporting associated wittat@ssets of $59.4 million representing 10% ofGloenpany’s total
assets as of December 31, 2012.

Based on the evaluation the Company concludedtiba€ompany maintained effective internal contr@rdinancial
reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on @&iterihelnternal Control — Integrated Frameworksued by the
COSO.
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The effectiveness of the Company’s internal corgkar financial reporting as of December 31, 2042 Ibeen audited
by KPMG Audit Plc, an independent registered puaticounting firm, as stated in their report whiglnicluded in
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reportng

The Company is continuously seeking to improvedtiieiency and effectiveness of its operations ahits internal
controls. This is intended to result in refinemdntprocesses throughout the Company. However th&s been no
change in the Company’s internal control over fiahreporting during the most recent fiscal quatihat has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erally affect, the Company’s internal control o¥i@ancial reporting.

Iltem 9B Other Information
None.
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PART Il

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information set forth under the headings “Reekbn of Two Class Il Directors”, “Election of @rClass Il
Director”, “Information about the Board of Directgt “Information about the Executive Officers” aftfiection 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complianda”the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting afcBholders to be he
on May 8, 2013 (“the Proxy Statement”) is incorgedaherein by reference.

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethasapplies to the Company’s directors, officaamd employees,
including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief FinaaoOfficer and Principal Accounting Officer. Anyogkholder who
would like to receive a copy of our Code of Ethiagy Corporate Governance Guidelines or any cleadeour Board’s
committees may obtain them without charge by wgitm the General Counsel and Chief Compliance éxffilnnospec
Inc., 8375 South Willow Street, Littleton, Colorad®124, e-mail investor@innospecinc.com. Theseodimer
documents can also be accessed via the Companly’sitee www.innospecinc.com.

The Company intends to disclose on its websiteaamgndments to, or waivers from, its Code of Etthes are require
to be publicly disclosed pursuant to the ruleshef SEC or NASDAQ.

Information regarding the Audit Committee of theaBa of Directors, including membership and reqeisitancial
expertise, set forth under the headings “Corpdeéateernance — Board Committees — Audit Committeel ‘sudit
Committee Report” in the 2013 Proxy Statementésiporated herein by reference.

Information regarding the procedures by which staditers may recommend nominees to the Board otcidire set
forth under the heading “Corporate Governance +@&ammittees — Nominating and Governance Comriittethe
2013 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein byreefse.

Item 11 Executive Compensatior

The information set forth under the headings “ExeeuCompensation,” “Corporate Governance — Boasth@ittees —
Compensation Committee — Compensation Committegldaks and Insider Participation” and “Compensatio
Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement is incosped herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Relatec
Stockholder Matters

The information set forth under the heading “Infatran About our Common Stock Ownership”the Proxy Stateme
is incorporated herein by reference.
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Shares Authorized for |1 ssuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information set forth in the table under thadieg “Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy &tagnt is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information set forth under the headings “Ger@ther Transactions and Relationships”, “Certather
Transactions Approval Policy” and “Corporate Gowarece — Director Independence” in the Proxy Statemsen
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information regarding fees and services relatatiécCompanys independent registered public accounting firmMG-
Audit Plc, is provided under the heading “Principatountant Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statéaued is
incorporated herein by reference. Information rdgey the Audit Committee’s pre-approval policiesigmocedures is
provided under the heading “Audit Committee Prerapal Policies and Procedures” in the Proxy Statdraad is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
@ (1) Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements (includingsjoof Innospec Inc. and its subsidiaries, toge
with the report of KPMG Audit Plc dated February 2813, are set forth in Item
2 Financial Statement Schedules
Financial statement schedules have been omitted ey are either included in the finant
statements, not applicable or not requil
(3) Exhibits

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiotih® Company. (1
3.2 Amended and Restated -laws of the Company. (¢
10.1 Executive Service Agreement of Mr. PJ Boon dateteJy 2009. (3)°
10.2 Contract of Employment, lan McRobbie. (4
10.3 Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessher* (

10.4 Contract of Employment, Patrick Williams, dated @er 11, 2005, (6) and Executive Sen
Agreement dated April 2, 2009. (7

10.5 Contract of Employment, lan Cleminson, dated Juhe2806. (8) *
10.6 Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option PO&8. (9) *
10.7 Innospec Inc. Company Share Option Plan 2008.

10.8 Innospec Inc. Non Employee Direct’ Stock Option Plan 2008. (9)
10.9 Innospec Inc. Sharesave Plan 2008. (1

10.10 Innospec Inc. Executive -Investment Stock Plan 2004, as amended by theAinsindment
(11) ~

10.11 $100,000,000 Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreent dated December 14, 2011 with
Lloyds TSB Bank plc as agent and security age).

10.12 Contract of Employment, David E. Williams, dategp&enber 17, 2009. (13)

10.13 Letters dated December 1, 2010 from the Board céddors to the following officers regardil
one off bonus payments: Patrick Williams, lan Pn@tleson, Philip J Boon, lan McRobbie and
Brian Watt. (14) *

10.14 Reward for Exceptional Performance One off BonasPJanuary 200- December 2012. (15)
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12.1
14
16
21.1
23.1
23.2

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2
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Computation of Financial Ratios (filed herewit

The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethics (as updated).

Letter regarding change in certifying accountartedaune 17, 2011. (1

Principal Subsidiaries of the Registrant (fileddweith).

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing, KPMG Audit Plc (filed herewith’

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (fil
herewith).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuido Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of
2002 (filed herewith)

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer to Sen 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

XBRL Instance Document and Related Ite
Notes
(1)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1+-K on March 16, 200€
(2)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-Q on May 10, 2011
(3) Filed with the Compar’s Form -K on May 27, 2009
(4)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 28, 2002
(5)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 31, 200%
(6) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on October 12, 200!
(7)  Filed with the Compar’s Form K on April 3, 2009.
(8) Filed with the Compar’s Form -K on June 30, 200t
(9)  Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on April 1, 201
(10) Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 31, 20
(11) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on February 17, 201.
(12) Filed with the Compar’s Form -K on December 19, 201
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(13) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on September 14, 200
(14) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on February 18, 201.
(15) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-Q on November 1, 201
(16) Filed with the Compar’s Form &K on June 17, 201:

* Denotes a management contract or compensatory
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reaitthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOSPEC INC. By: /s/ PATRICK S. WILLIAMS
(Registrant Patrick S. Williams
Date: President and Chief Executive Offic

February 13, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the@apa indicated as of February 13, 2013:

/s/ MILTON C. BLACKMORE Chairman and Directc
Milton C. Blackmore

/s/ IAN P. CLEMINSON Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
lan P. Cleminsol

/sl MARK A. BRACEWELL Group Financial Controller (Principal Accounti
Mark A. Bracewell Officer)

/sl HUGH G. C. ALDOUS Director

Hugh G. C. Aldou:

/s MARTIN M. HALE Director

Martin M. Hale

/s LAWRENCE J. PADFIELL Director

Lawrence J. Padfiel

/s/ ROBERT I. PALLEF Director

Robert I. Palle

/s/ JOACHIM ROESER Director

Joachim Roese
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Exhibit 12.1

EXHIBIT 12.1 — STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF F INANCIAL RATIOS
(in millions except financial ratios, share and peshare data)

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
1. NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC. ASA PERCENTAGE
OF SALES
A Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 682 $ 48¢ $ 737 $ 64 $ 12°f
B Net sale $776.« $774¢ $ 6832 $598.5 $ 640.
A % of B 8.8% 6.2% 10.8% 1.1% 2.%
2. EFFECTIVE TAX RATE AS A PERCENTAGE
C Income taxe $ 26¢ $ 37 $ (30 $ 11¢ $ 6.2
D Income before income ta $ 952 $ 52¢€ $ 707 $ 18 $ 18.¢
C%of D 28.% 7.C% -4.2% 65.(% 33.%%
3. CURRENT RATIO
E Current asse $296.6 $320.0 $321.¢ $282¢ $ 256.€
F Current liabilitie $ 147.: $ 146.C $ 158.¢ $179.¢ $ 188.]
Ratio of E to F 2.C 2.2 2.C 1.€ 14
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC.
G Net income attributable to Innospec $ 68 $ 48¢ $ 737 $ 64 $ 12¢
H Basic shares outstand 23,18: 23,56¢ 23,75¢ 23,64 23,59¢
I Diluted shares outstandi 23,85( 24,52( 24,81« 24,71« 24,39
G/H Basicearnings per share attributable tm$pec Inc $ 298 $ 207 $ 31C $ 027 $ 0.5:
G/l Dilutedearnings per share attributabléninospec Inc $ 28 $ 19¢ $ 297 $ 026 $ 0.1

Shares in thousands, earnings per share attrileut@dhnospec Inc. in dollars.



EXHIBIT 21.1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRA NT

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (Switzerlar
Innospec Active Chemicals LLC (US,
Innospec Active Chemicals Limited (U.k
Innospec Deutschland GmbH (Germa
Innospec Developments Limited (U.k
Innospec Environmental Limited (U.K
Innospec Finance Limited (U.K

Innospec France SA (Franc

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (US
Innospec Fuel Specialties Limited (U.}
Innospec Holdings Limited (U.K

Innospec International Limited (U.K
Innospec Leuna GmbH (Germar
Innospec Limited (U.K.

Innospec Spain SL (Spai

Innospec Trading Limited (U.K

Innospec Widnes Limited (U.K

Novoktan GmbH (Germany

OBOAdler Company Limited (U.K.
Societa Italiana Additivi Per Carburanti S.r.la(it)

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Innospec Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference, érdgistration statements (Nos. 333-131687, 333-324333-174050 and 333-174439) on
Form S-8 of Innospec Inc., of our report dated Babyr 13, 2013, with respect to the consolidatedrzd sheets of Innospec Inc. and its
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011thencklated consolidated statements of income, celngmsive income and accumulated
other comprehensive loss, cash flows and stocktslldquity for the years then ended, and the affentss of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2012, which reporeappin the December 31, 2012 annual report on BOrK of Innospec Inc..

Our report dated February 13, 2013, on the effentdgs of internal control over financial reportasgof December 31, 2012, contains an
explanatory paragraph that states that our audiitefnal control over financial reporting of Inpex Inc. excluded an evaluation of the inte
control over financial reporting of Strata Cont&#rvices, Inc. which was acquired on December @422

KPMG Audit Plc

Manchester, United Kingdom
February 13, 2013



Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B38687 / 333-124139 / 333-174050 /
333-174439) of Innospec Inc. of our report datebr&ary 18, 2011 relating to the financial stateraamtd the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, which appears in thisiadrO-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 13, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PATRICK S. WILLIAMS PURSUANT TO SE CTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Patrick S. Williams, certify that:

1.
2.

/sl

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dongttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpzahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 13, 201



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF IAN P. CLEMINSON PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, lan P. Cleminson, certify that:

1.
2.

Is/

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#y) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

IAN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 13, 201



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfpr the period ended December 31, 2012 as filed thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), |, Patrick S. Williams, Presideand Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Gdpted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyp#2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 13, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfés part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosionisipon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfpr the period ended December 31, 2012 as filed thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), I, lan P. Cleminson, Executivec®¥ President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICS§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of thieaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl IAN P. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 13, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350 and is not beirggfés part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosiomsipon reques



